A comparative study of levels of methylglyoxal and reduced glutathione in different organs of rats treated with high carbohydrate diets

A thesis submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for a Master of Science degree

in the Department of Pharmacology

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon

By Sukhpreet Kaur Sandhawalia

© Copyright Sukhpreet Kaur Sandhawalia, June 2014. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Pharmacology Health Science Building, 107 Wiggins Road University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5E5

ABSTRACT

Methylglyoxal (MG) is a reactive dicarbonyl compound mainly formed during glucose and fructose metabolism. Diabetic patients have increased plasma levels of MG. Our laboratory has shown that treatment with MG induces insulin resistance and type II diabetes in male Sprague-Dawley rats. However, the increases in endogenous MG level attained in different organs and its contribution to the pathogenesis of diabetes following the administration of either high glucose or high fructose diet have not been addressed. The present study aims to investigate whether the harmful effects induced by increased consumption of glucose and/or fructose is linked to increased MG generation. In vitro studies have suggested that L-arginine is an effective MG scavenger. Accordingly, another goal is to determine whether L-arginine pretreatment would scavenge MG under *in vivo* setting and reduce the harmful effects of hyperglycemia. MG and reduced glutathione (GSH) levels were determined in plasma and urine and in different organs of male Sprague-Dawley rats after 12 weeks of treatment with either high fructose or high glucose diet. GSH plays an important role in the degradation of MG and bears an inverse relationship with the levels of MG. The key results obtained suggest that both diets significantly increased blood pressure and plasma MG levels. A high fructose but not a high glucose diet, increased the plasma total cholesterol, triglycerides levels and total cholesterol/HDL ratio in parallel with the increases in MG and GSH levels in the liver. Increased MG levels seen in both aorta and mesenteric artery induced by high glucose or fructose diet was attenuated by pretreatment with L-arginine. These findings suggest that elevated MG level induced by treatment with high carbohydrate diets in both conduit (aorta) and resistance type (mesneteric artery) vessels may be linked to endothelial dysfunction seen in hyerglycemic/diabetic states. High glucose but not high fructose diet significantly increased MG levels in the pancreas. This observation is consistent

with the well-known glucotoxicity caused by hyperglycemia in the pancreas. Taken together, these data provide the first evidence that elevated MG levels in certain organs/tissues following consumption of high fructose and/or glucose diet(s) may play a critical role in contributing to the metabolic abnormalities and the endothelial dysfunction that precedes the onset of macro and microvascular complications in either hyperglycemic and/or type II diabetic states. Interestingly, quenching of elevated MG levels in tissues by pretreamtent with L-arginine overcomes MG-induced vascular damage and endothelial dysfunction caused by high fructose and high glucose diet regimens.

ACKNOWLEGEMENTS

I began pursuing Masters in Pharmacology under the supervision of Dr Kaushik Desai in March 2012 and right from day one, he supported me to the best of his capacity. We, in India, believe in the ages old ritual of 'Guru-Shishya' wherein our teacher and supervisor is not only our educational guide but a moral guide who transmits his experiential wisdom to his student and leads his way at each step to help him achieve greater heights in career and life at large. Today, about a few months over 2 years, as I sit completing the final parts of my thesis, all I can think of is to thank my guru Dr Desai without whom I would not have reached this stage. His calm composed temperament, patience, intelligence and compassion for research instilled confidence and courage in me to go on despite all the challenges and hurdles in this field of research which was new to me. He helped me learn the techniques in the easiest and quickest possible manner and took time out of his busy schedule to answer all my queries and lend a helping hand as and whenever needed. During these 2 years, I faced one of the toughest times of my life having lost my beloved brother which almost broke me down but his strong and consistent encouragement ensured I did not give up and keep working diligently towards the completion of my degree. Words will always fall short for the academic and moral support I received from him during my entire degree period. I can only pray and wish every student is lucky enough to have a teacher as enlightened and sincere as he is.

Secondly, I want to thank the whole Pharmacology department which has been there right from a pen to professors. Everything and everybody in this department strives to excel in its service to students ranging from counseling to help with courses. My special thanks to the Head of the Department, Dr V. Gopalakrishnan and other faculty members namely, Dr L. Liu, Dr A. Jadhav, Dr G. Sawicki, Dr C. Taghibiglou, and Dr L. Baker, who always provided invaluable inputs to

steer me towards greater accomplishments. Also, I want to thank our lab technician Bob and Cindy & Donna from the pharmacology office who always helped me with anything they could with a big smile on their face which always made my day every single time.

Thirdly, my vote of thanks goes to my lab mates and peers who helped me whenever I got stuck at some step in a research procedure or at times by being a partner for a group study or group discussion. Among these, I heartily and warmly thank Entesar Omran, Mokarram Hussain, Yang Su, Arti Dhar, Manish Mishra, Shuchita Tiwari & Elizabet Jakova who have all been wonderful fellow researchers & helped create a healthy and delightful environment which contributed a lot in my progress.

A special thanks to some good friends namely Gleam S Gill, Malika Kalra, Ankita Shah, Brianne Philipenko, Amie Vowles, Kevin Desai and Siddharth Tiwari who cooperated and supported at all stages to bring out the best in me. A distinct thanks to a distinct and unique friend Heena Desai who inspired a never say die spirit in me.

Last but not the least, a super big thanks to my caring and loving husband Yogesh Yuvraj for providing me with true love and care so much so that I could sit through days and nights working towards my goal while he made sure I worked, ate, drank and rested in balanced proportions tending to me almost like I was a child. I am also thankful to both my wonderful moms and dads who had an undying faith in me which filled me with infinite strength and energy to work relentlessly to complete my degree. I am also blessed with two sweet younger siblings Rimi & Vishav who laughed and joked with me in tough & stressful times to cheer me up. I also thank my grandparents and all my extended family who were always there for me. I also thank god almighty for his priceless blessings and his gift of such beautiful life to me.

DEDICATION

To my beloved brother

Gary Sandhawalia

Because for the world he might have left, but for me, he is forever by my side as my biggest strength and support never ceasing to love, care and guide me...

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USEi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEGEMENTS iv
DEDICATION vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS vii
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxv
INTRODUCTION1
The problem of diabetes1
METHYLGLYOXAL
Synthesis
Degradation of MG
Levels of methylglyoxal
Glutathione
Methylglyoxal and oxidative stress10
Methylglyoxal and advanced glycation end products formation13
Methylglyoxal toxicity and other pathological effects
Cancer
Diabetes18
Hypertension19

Alzheimer's disease
Obesity
Scavengers of methylglyoxal21
L-Arginine21
Aminoguanidine
Alagebrium (ALT-711)
Metformin23
N-acetyl cysteine
High carbohydrate diets 24
Differences between Fructose, Sucrose and Glucose
Structure
Absorption and metabolism 27
Lipogenesis
Rationale for the study
Hypotheses and objectives
Hypotheses:
Objectives
Methods and materials
Animals
Measurement of mean arterial pressure
Measurement of methylglyoxal
Measurement of reduced glutathione: Monochlorobimane (mCB) approach

GSH standards preparation
Oral glucose tolerance test
Statistical analysis
RESULTS
High glucose and high fructose diets significantly increase the mean arterial pressure in rats but
did not affect the body weight
High fructose diet significantly increases plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels in rats
High glucose and high fructose diets significantly increase plasma methylglyoxal levels
High glucose and high fructose diets significantly increase methylglyoxal levels in the aorta and
mesenteric vascular bed in rats
High glucose and high fructose diets did not affect methylglyoxal or glutathione levels in the
brain, the heart and the kidneys in rats
A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, significantly increases methylglyoxal and
glutathione levels in the liver in rats53
L-arginine significantly increases methylglyoxal levels and decreases glutathione levels in the
skeletal muscles in rats 53
A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, significantly decreases methylglyoxal and
increases glutathione levels in the adipose tissue in rats
A high fructose diet significantly decreases methylglyoxal levels, whereas a high glucose diet
increases glutathione levels, in the small intestine in rats56
A high fructose diet significantly increases methylglyoxal levels, compared to a high glucose diet,
in the lungs in rats

A high fructose diet significantly increases methylglyoxal levels, compared to a high glucose diet,
in the spleen in rats
A high glucose diet and L-arginine significantly increase methylglyoxal levels, compared to a
high fructose diet, in the pancreas in rats62
High glucose and high fructose diets did not affect methylglyoxal levels in the urine in rats 62
L-arginine significantly decreases fasting plasma insulin levels in rats
A high glucose and high fructose diets do not affect plasma glucose and insulin area under
curves (AUCs) following an oral glucose tolerance test in rats
Discussion
Conclusions
Significance of the study
Limitations of the study
References

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. AGE inhibitors and breakers
Table 2. Availability of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) in the caloric sweetener supply in
United States
Table 3. Summary of results 71

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Chemical structure of methylglyoxal
Figure 2. Synthesis of methylglyoxal
Figure 3. Degradation of methylglyoxal by the glyoxalase enzymes
Figure 4. Distribution of methylglyoxal (MG) in different tissues and urine in Sprague-Dawley
rats after intraperitoneal (17.25 mg/kg body wt) administration
Figure 5. Structure of glutathione
Figure 6. Mechanisms of methylglyoxal induced oxidative stress
Figure 7. Different advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) generated from methylglyoxal14
Figure 8. Mechanism of action of AGEs16
Figure 9. Structure of L-arginine
Figure 10. Chemical structures of all glucose, fructose and sucrose
Figure 11. Generation of methylglyoxal from fructose and glucose
Figure 12. Derivatization of methylglyoxal for HPLC
Figure 13. High glucose and high fructose diets do not affect the increase in body weights,
compared to control, in rats
Figure 14. High glucose and high fructose diets increase the mean arterial pressure in rats 44
Figure 15. A high fructose diet increases plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels in rats.
Figure 16. High fructose and high glucose diets increase plasma methylglyoxal (MG) in rats 47

Figure 17. High fructose and high glucose diets increase methylglyoxal (MG) in the aorta of
rats
48
Figure 18. High fructose and high glucose diets increase methylglyoxal (MG) in the mesenteric
artery of rats
Figure 19. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) or reduced
glutathione (GSH) levels in the brain of rats
Figure 20. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) or reduced
glutathione (GSH) levels in the heart of rats51
Figure 21. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) or reduced
glutathione (GSH) levels in the kidney of rats
Figure 22. A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, increases methylglyoxal (MG) and
reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the liver of rats
Figure 23. L-arginine increases methylglyoxal (MG) and decreases reduced glutathione (GSH)
levels in the skeletal muscle of rats55
Figure 24. A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, decreases methylglyoxal (MG) and
increases glutathione (GSH) levels in the adipose tissue of rats
Figure 25. A high fructose diet decreases methylglyoxal (MG) level whereas a high glucose diet
increases reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the small intestine of rats
Figure 26. A high fructose diet increases methylglyoxal (MG) level, compared to a high glucose
diet, in the lungs of rats60

Figure 27. A high glucose diet decreases methylglyoxal (MG) level, compared to a high fructose
diet, in the spleen of rats61
Figure 28. A high glucose diet and L-arginine increase methylglyoxal (MG) levels, compared to
a high fructose diet, in the pancreas of rats
Figure 29. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) levels in the
urine of rats
Figure 30. L-arginine decreases fasting plasma insulin levels of rats
Figure 31. L-arginine reduces plasma insulin response following an oral glucose tolerance test.67
Figure 32. L-arginine does not affect glucose tolerance following an oral glucose tolerance test.
Figure 33. A high glucose diet alone or combined with L-arginine decrease plasma insulin
response levels to an oral glucose tolerance test
Figure 34. A high fructose diet alone or combined with L-arginine do not affect glucose
tolerance following an oral glucose tolerance test

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
ALA	Alagebrium
AMO	Acetol/acetone monooxygenase
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood pressure
CEA	Carboxyethylarginine
CEL	Carboxyethyllysine
CML	Carboxymethyllysine
DHAP	Dihydroxy acetone phosphate
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetra acetic acid
EI	Electrospray ionization
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ESRD	End stage renal stage
GSH	Reduced glutathione
GSSG	Glutathione disulphide
GTT	Glucose tolerance test
HDL	High density lipoproteins
HFCS	High fructose corn syrup
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1

IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IL	Interleukins
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
L-Arg	L-Arginine
LC	Liquid chromatography
LDL	Low density lipoproteins
MAP	Mean arterial pressure
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MC	Mass chromatography
MG	Methylglyoxal
MODIC	Methylglyoxal-derived imidazolium cross-linking
MOLD	Methylglyoxal-lysine dimer
MTP	Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein
NAC	N-acetyl cysteine
NADPH	Reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa beta
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
OCD	Ornithine decarboxylase
PCA	Perchloric acid
РТВ	Phenacylthiazolium bromide
RAGE	Receptor for AGEs
ROS	Reactive oxygen species

- SHR Spontaneously hypertensive rats
- SREBP-2 Sterol regulatory element binding protein-2
- SSAO Semicarbazide sensitive amine oxidase
- T2DM Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- THP Tetrahydropyrimidine
- VCAM1 Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- VLDL Very high density lipoproteins
- VSMCs Vascular smooth muscle cells

INTRODUCTION

The problem of diabetes

Diabetes is a metabolic disorder in which a person becomes hyperglycemic due to a defect in insulin secretion or action or both of these (Lu et al, 2011). Type II Diabetes can vary from a predominant insulin resistance with relative insulin deficiency to a predominant defect in insulin secretion with relative insulin resistance. Chronic poorly controlled hyperglycemia of diabetes has many significant long term complications which are the main cause of morbidity and mortality from this disease (Canadian-Diabetes-Association, 2008). Maintaining optimum glucose control reduces the risk of long term complications of diabetes.

In 1985, an estimated 30 million people around the world were diagnosed with diabetes; in 2000, that figure rose to over 150 million; and, in 2012, the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) estimated that 371 million people had diabetes (International-Diabetes-Federation, 2012). This number is estimated to increase to 552 million (or 1 in 10 adults) by 2030, which means 3 new cases per second (International-Diabetes-Federation, 2012) . Although the data suggests that developing countries will be the ones most impacted, Canada will be hit as well. As of 2009, the estimated prevalence of diabetes in Canada was 6.8% of the population i.e. 2.4 million Canadians which is a looming 230% increase compared to prevalence estimates in 1998. By 2019, that number is expected to grow to 3.7 million (Diabetes-in-Canada, 2011). Diabetes is the leading cause of blindness, end stage renal disease (ESRD) and non-traumatic amputation in Canadian adults and as such, the complications are far worse than the disease itself.

Recent studies have pointed out that a chemical compound known as methylglyoxal (MG) might have a role in the causation of diabetes and/or diabetic complications. This is formed

endogenously mainly during the glucose metabolism in body but has other sources as well (Kalapos, 1999). Studies have shown that the levels of methylglyoxal are elevated in patients of T2DM and also co-relate with the levels of HbA_{1c} and fasting glucose (Nemet et al, 2005). It has been also suggested that the increased levels of MG cause the impairment of renal mitochondrial functions and lead to the causation of diabetic nephropathy (Rosca et al, 2002) through the mechanism of oxidative stress (Rosca et al, 2005).

METHYLGLYOXAL

MG is a α -dicarbonyl compound (Fig. 1) which is produced as a by-product of various chemical reactions (Matafome et al, 2013). Chemically, it is also called pyruvaldehyde, pyruvic aldehyde or 2-oxopropanal. It is a yellow liquid with a characteristic pungent odour. It has a low molecular weight of 72.06.





Synthesis

MG is produced endogenously during the breakdown of carbohydrates, lipids as well as amino acids and involves both enzymatic and non-enzymatic reactions (Kalapos, 1999). MG is generated from the glucose metabolism through the glycolytic pathway (Phillips & Thornalley, 1993). Here, MG is produced by the non-enzymatic fragmentation and elimination of phosphate from glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) (Fig. 2) (Thornalley, 1996).



Figure 2. Synthesis of methylglyoxal. [Figure with permission from: (Desai et al, 2010)]. Methylglyoxal (MG) is mainly generated from triose phosphate intermediates of glucose and

fructose metabolism. Other minor sources are acetone/acetol and aminoacetone produced during fatty acid and amino acid metabolism, respectively. Abbreviations: AMO, acetol/acetone monooxygenase; DHAP, dihydroxy acetone phosphate; F-1,6-di-P, fructose-1,6-diphosphate; G3-P, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SSAO, semicarbazide sensitive amine oxidase.

Alternatively, MG is also produced by lipid metabolism which involves either enzymatic or non-enzymatic reactions in which glycerol, acetoacetate or acetone are converted to 1,2dicarbonyl. MG formation also occurs during the lipid peroxidation process (Shibamoto, 2006). The metabolism of amino acids (mainly threonine and glycine, and partially tyrosine) is also connected with synthesis of MG (Thornalley, 1993). Aminoacetone is formed as a product of threonine & glycine metabolism and its conversion into MG is catalyzed by semicarbazidesensitive amine oxidase (SSAO) (Yu et al, 2003).

Degradation of MG

MG is currently believed to be a toxic compound and the glyoxalase system is responsible for its detoxification in the body (Sousa Silva et al, 2013). The glyoxalase system consists of two enzymes, glyoxalase I & glyoxalase II, and catalytic amount of reduced glutathione. Glyoxalase I catalyses the formation of S,D-lactoyl-glutathione from hemithioacetal formed nonenzymatically from MG and reduced glutathione (Fig. 3).

Methylglyoxal (CH₃COCHO)

$$\downarrow$$
 Reduced glutathione (GSH)
Hemithioacetal (CH₃COCH(OH)-SG
 \downarrow Glyoxalase I
S,D-lactoyl glutathione (CH₃CH(OH)CO-SG
 $+ H_2O \int Glyoxalase II$
D-lactic acid CH₃CH(OH)CO₂- + GSH + H⁺

Figure 3. Degradation of methylglyoxal by the glyoxalase enzymes.

Glyoxalase II hydrolyses this S,D-lactoyl glutathione to D-lactic acid and hence, reforms the reduced glutathione consumed in the first step (Thornalley, 1996).

Levels of methylglyoxal

MG is a highly reactive compound. This is indicated from a reported estimate which states that about 99% of MG in the body is bound to proteins and other biomolecules whereas only about 1% is in free form (Chaplen et al, 1998). Hence, accurate measurement of levels of MG in plasma and other body compartments is not an easy task. Judging by this, the actual concentration of MG should be much higher than the ones reported by various studies since most of them only calculate the unbound free form of MG.

The normal plasma levels of MG have been reported to be in the range of 0.2-1 μ M (Nemet et al, 2004). In another study, the normal plasma levels of MG have been determined to be

around 0.5-1.5 μ M (Jia & Wu, 2007; Wang et al, 2007) which is only a slight variation. It has been shown that the levels of MG rise by about 2 to 4 times in the plasma of diabetic patients (Wang et al, 2007).

The concentration of MG in human blood samples has been found to be about 80 pmol/g. In terms of pathophysiology, such low concentration is protective because of the high reactivity of α -carbonyls with nucleic acids and body proteins (Thornalley, 1998). Not much variation was, however, found in MG concentration between male and female plasma samples.

In another study, the concentration of MG in human lens has been calculated to be in the range of 1.78 ± 0.84 nmol (g wet weight)⁻¹. The concentration of MG was, thus, found to be about 20 times higher than the concentration in the blood samples from normal human subjects (Haik et al, 1994).

Another study reports that the normal concentration of MG in the urine of healthy subjects is around 15 μ M (Espinosa-Mansilla et al, 1998). A male to female variation in the urinary concentration of MG was reported by another study. The MG levels were determined in the form of a methylglyoxal/creatinine ratio. For women, the value estimated was 0.60±0.22 µg/mg of MG/Creatinine whereas for men, it was 0.49±0.05 µg/mg. These results corresponded with the BMI of the individuals (Espinosa-Mansilla et al, 2007).

One interesting study compares the levels of MG in plasma samples of normal and diabetic subjects. The outcome observed was that the average amount of MG in serum of normal subjects was in range of 0.025-0.065 μ g/ml whereas in diabetics, it was in the range of 0.115-0.228 μ g/ml (Kandhro et al, 2008).



Figure 4. Distribution of methylglyoxal (MG) in different tissues and urine in Sprague-Dawley rats after intraperitoneal (17.25 mg/kg body wt) administration. [alagebrium (ALA; 100 mg/kg i.p.)]. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs. corresponding control group, †P<0.05, ††P<0.01 vs. MG-17 i.p. group. [Figure with permission from (Dhar et al, 2010a)].

Several studies have been done to calculate the levels of MG in animal tissues as well. The levels of MG in several different organs/tissues in normal male 12 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were measured in our lab to determine the basal levels and the levels of MG absorbed after intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration (Fig. 4) (Dhar et al, 2010a). The results revealed that the basal MG level in the aorta was apparently higher compared to other organs. The aortic MG level further increased significantly following i.p. administration. The urinary MG also increased significantly after i.p. administration indicating that most of the MG absorbed into the blood was being excreted in the urine.

Quantification of MG in ruminal fluid was attempted in one of the studies and a detection limit of 0.125µg/ml was calculated (Lodge-Ivey et al, 2004). Another very interesting study has been conducted to calculate the levels of MG in various tissues of Sprague-Dawley rats using the electrospray ionization liquid chromatography mass chromatography (El/LC/MC) technique. 5-Methylquinoxaline (5-MQ) is used as an internal standard. The results are expressed as mean value \pm standard deviation (nmol/g wet weight). The values reported are: heart - 3.4 ± 1.6 , liver - 2.5 ± 0.8 , kidney - 2.0 ± 1.0 , aorta - 10.6 ± 6.7 & blood - 2.0 ± 1.0 . Thus, the value of MG is highest in aorta followed by heart, liver, kidneys and blood (Randell et al, 2005). A Study has also been done to determine the extracellular & intracellular levels of MG in animal tissues. The intracellular concentration of MG expressed as mean ± 2 standard deviations in Chinese Hamster cells grown in culture medium was in the range of $0.7\pm0.3\mu$ M to $1.2\pm0.3\mu$ M while the extracellular concentration in the culture medium was in the range of $0.07\pm0.02\mu$ M (Chaplen et al, 1996).

Glutathione

Reduced glutathione (GSH) is a major antioxidant in humans and other animals. Structurally it is a tripeptide synthesized from the amino acids glutamate, cysteine and glycine (Fig. 5). Glutathione reduces the disulfide bonds in proteins by acting as an electron donor. During this process, glutathione gets oxidized and is converted into glutathione disulfide (GSSG). The oxidized glutathione is converted back into the reduced form GSH by the enzyme glutathione reductase.

GSH also helps to remove the reactive hydrogen peroxide with the help of the enzyme glutathione peroxidase (Fig. 6). GSH levels in human tissues range between 0.1 and 10 mM.





The highest concentration is found in the liver (up to 10 mM), but the spleen, lens, kidney and blood cells (erythrocytes and leukocytes) also have high levels (Bremer, 1981). The plasma level of GSH is around 4.5 μ M (Chawla et al, 1984). A number of conditions that increase oxidative stress can reduce GSH levels. These conditions include infections, toxic chemicals, inflammation (Thorne-Research-Inc., 2001) etc. Treatment with N-acetylcysteine (NAC), α lipoic acid, methionine, ascorbic acid and taurine can increase GSH levels (Thorne-Research-Inc., 2001).

GSH plays a vital role in the degradation of MG by binding to free MG and presenting it to glyoxalase I which converts MG into hemithioacetal (Fig. 3).

Recent studies have shown that certain drugs, supplements and/or glutathione rich foods can be taken to increase and maintain optimum glutathione levels in plasma. Amongst these, calcitriol (an active metabolite of vitamin D_3), N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe) and whey protein have been shown to be beneficial in raising glutathione levels.

Methylglyoxal and oxidative stress

MG is a double-edged sword because it is not only a potent inducer of oxidative stress itself but also leads to formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) which also cause oxidative stress (Desai & Wu, 2008; Wautier et al, 2001) (Fig. 6). So, it is a direct as well as indirect inducer of oxidative stress - a phenomenon wherein the levels of reactive oxygen species namely superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and peroxynitrite rise above the body's capacity to detoxify the reactive intermediates or repair any resulting damage. Incubating the cultured rat aortic vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) with MG lead to an increased production of superoxide in a dose-dependent manner. MG also led to increased formation of hydrogen peroxide as well as peroxynitrite through induction of inducible NOS (iNOS) (Chang et al, 2005). Peroxynitrite can be formed by reaction of nitric oxide with excess superoxide which can lead to destruction of DNA and a wide variety of other molecules because of its oxidizing power (Pacher et al, 2007). Additionally, MG has also been shown to activate pro-oxidant p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) in human endothelial cells (Akhand et al, 2001). MG also increases NADPH oxidase mediated superoxide levels in rat kidney mesangial cells which was prevented by superoxide dismutase (Ho et al, 2007).



Figure 6. Mechanisms of methylglyoxal induced oxidative stress. [Image adapted from (Desai et al, 2010)].

The figure shows multiple mechanisms through which MG can induce or increase oxidative stress making it a very potent trigger for oxidative stress. MG has direct effects as well as indirect effects through the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), which activate the receptor for AGEs (RAGE). MG and AGEs increase the expression and activity of nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), which in turn induces inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). MG increases the expression and activity of NADPH oxidase and reduces the activity of catalase, glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px), glutathione reductase (GSH-Red). AGEs and MG also increase superoxide (O₂•⁻) production from the electron transport chain. Abbreviations: H₂O₂, hydrogen peroxide; H₂O, water; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; IFN₇,

interferon gamma; IL-1, interleukin 1; IL6, interleukin 6; JNK, c-Jun-N-terminal kinase; p38 MAPK, p38 mitogen activated protein kinase; ONOO⁻, peroxynitrite; VCAM1, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1.

Apart from its pro-oxidant properties, MG also inhibits anti-oxidant mechanisms. MG interferes with anti-oxidant enzymes in blood cells. MG significantly reduces GSH levels in erythrocytes (Beard et al, 2003). As we have discussed above, MG is detoxified in the body using the glyoxalase system which is dependent on GSH levels. Moreover, MG inactivates glutathione peroxidase as well as glutathione reductase, which are the main enzymes responsible for the removal of hydrogen peroxide and recycling of GSH (Blakytny & Harding, 1992; Park et al, 2003). Since, MG decreases GSH levels, it impairs its self-destruction, increasing its half-life and thus, causes further oxidative damage through this positive feedback loop (Wu & Juurlink, 2002).

AGEs are the mediators for the indirect route of oxidative stress induction by MG. AGEs are produced as a result of interaction between MG and amino acid residues, mainly arginine, cysteine and lysine (Chang & Wu, 2006). AGEs produce oxidative stress by increasing levels of growth factors and cytokines (Westwood & Thornalley, 1996). Furthermore, AGEs can cause oxidative stress in cells like VSMCs, endothelial cells and mononuclear phagocytes by their interaction with the receptor for AGEs (RAGE) and other scavenger receptors (Thornalley, 1998; Wautier et al, 2001). Interaction of AGEs with RAGE leads to the expression of various cell adhesion molecules such as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and also activates nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) which produces oxidative stress in the endothelial cells (Bierhaus et al, 1997; Kikuchi et al, 2003). Oxidative stress further causes ageing and age-related diseases such as atherosclerosis and Alzheimer's disease (Baynes, 2001).

Methylglyoxal and advanced glycation end products formation

Advanced glycation end products or AGEs are a complex group of compounds formed by a non-enzymatic reaction between the reducing sugars and the amine group of proteins, lipids or nucleic acids (Goh & Cooper, 2008). They are formed from the reactive metabolic intermediates such as glucose, 3-deoxyglucosone and glyoxal. The reaction starts with the reducing sugar condensing with the amine group of protein at the N-terminal or on lysine side-chain. In the early phase of this reaction, the carbonyl group of sugar attaches with the protein to form an unstable intermediate called Schiff base (Desai & Wu, 2007). In the late phase of reaction, the Schiff base undergoes an Amadori re-arrangement to form a stable Amadori product. This Amadori product further gets cyclized to form a ring structure (Bucala & Cerami, 1992; Bucala et al, 1993). The Amadori product leads to the formation of various non-enzymatically derived products called AGEs by either oxidation, degradation or rearrangement. Oxidation of the glycated product is termed as Maillard reaction and owing to the brown product, it is also called browning reaction.



Figure 7. Different advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) generated from methylglyoxal. [Image reproduced from (Matafome et al, 2013)].

The figure shows MG-derived AGEs. MG is a major source of AGEs. MG is mainly generated during glycolysis and from auto-oxidation of glucose. MG reacts with arginine (Arg) residues of proteins to form N δ -(5-hydro-5-methyl-4-imidazolon-2-yl)-ornithine (MG-H1), 2-amino-5-(2-amino-5-hydro-5-methyl-4-imidazolon-1-yl)pentanoic acid (MG-H2), 2-amino-5-(2-amino-4-hydro-4-methyl-5-imidazolon-1-yl)pentanoic acid (MG-H3), argpyrimidine (ARGPYR) and tetrahydropyrimidine (THP). It reacts with lysine (Lys) to form N ϵ -carboxyethylysine (CEL) and the methylglyoxal-lysine dimer (MOLD). A dimer crosslink between arginine and lysine results in methylglyoxal-derived imidazolium cross-linking (MODIC).

The major AGEs formed from MG can be broadly classified as fluorescent and nonfluorescent adducts (Fig. 7). MG reacts primarily with arginine producing cyclic imidazolone adducts. Depending upon the nitrogen atom involved and the environmental pH, three different products are possible. All these three adducts are in equilibrium since they can open up forming Carboxyethylarginine (CEA) (Klopfer et al, 2011). In addition, it can add another MG producing THP (tetrahydropyridimine) and through a final re-cyclization reaction yields argpyrimidine (Shipanova et al, 1997). MG also reacts with lysine residues to form carboxyethyllysine (CEL) (Fig. 7) whereas glyoxal forms carboxymethyllysine (CML). The aldimine intermediate further reacts with arginine guanidine group and through series of reactions yields a cross-linking imidazol MODIC adduct. MG can also react with two lysine residues forming another imidazolium MOLD adduct *via* a cannizaro-type reaction (Nasiri et al, 2011).

AGEs produce their biological effects by different and not so well-defined mechanisms (Vistoli et al, 2013). However, broadly speaking, AGEs exert their effects by two main mechanisms (Fig. 8). Firstly, they can directly cross-link with certain proteins such as collagen causing changes like vascular stiffness amounting to endothelial dysfunction. Secondly, they can cross-link with certain receptors such as RAGE and initiate a cascade of signaling reactions which cause release of various pro-inflammatory and pro-sclerotic agents (Goh & Cooper, 2008).

Besides RAGE some other receptors that AGEs generally bind to are AGE-receptors 1,2 and 3 or AGE-R1, AGE-R2 and AGE-R3 (McRobert et al, 2003) (Fig. 8). The interaction with RAGE triggers secondary messenger pathways like Protein-C whose major target is nuclear factor- κ B. NF- κ B ultimately leads to increased expression of proteins such as ICAM-1, E-selectin, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), tissue factor and proinflammatory cytokines (Goldin et al, 2006; Schiekofer et al, 2003; Yan et al, 1994). AGE-R1 & R3 have been linked to

the clearance of AGEs and have been also implicated in diabetic complications due to AGEs (He et al, 2001).



Figure 8. Mechanism of action of AGEs. [Image reproduced from (Forbes & Cooper, 2013)]. Abbreviations: AGEs, advanced glycation end products, AGE-R1, AGEs receptor 1; AGE-R3, AGEs receptor 3; RAGE, receptor for AGEs.

CML is the most commonly found AGE (Reddy et al, 1995). As already stated above, MG has a double-pronged mechanism of action. It induces oxidative stress independently and also indirectly by production of AGEs which further cause oxidative stress (Dhar et al, 2008). AGEs

have been found to accumulate in all the major tissues damaged by diabetes and the rate of accumulation is proportional to the level of hyperglycemia. The above described chain of events, especially vascular stiffness produced by AGEs, is found to have a role in causing the major diabetic complications in sites such as kidney, retina and atherosclerotic plaques (Bucala & Vlassara, 1995; Hammes et al, 1999; Makita et al, 1994).

Methylglyoxal toxicity and other pathological effects

The toxic effects of MG depend upon the dose and period of exposure. Over the years, various experiments have been performed *in vivo* and *in vitro* to study its toxic effects. Another set of studies brings out the pathological changes brought about in organisms upon prolonged exposure leading to different diseases.

In one such study, it was observed that a dose of 800 mg/body weight given intraperitoneally proved lethal to the experiments animals within 4 hours whereas animals injected with less than this lethal dose developed a reduced liver weight within 24 hours of treatment. Additionally, pulmonary hyperemia and distended intestines covered with fibrin were also observed (Choudhary et al, 1997; Kalapos et al, 1991b). In another study, MG given orally in female mice caused glomerular basement membrane thickening and collagen accumulation in kidneys which is one of the major renal changes in diabetes (Golej et al, 1998). Also, studies suggest that MG treatment also produces psychomotor changes in experimental animals. In case of rabbits, they developed ataxia, slow movements, depression and reduced appetite (Kalapos et al, 1991a).

On a broader scale, chronic accumulation of MG inside the organisms has been suggested as a causative agent in diseases such as cancer, beriberi, Alzheimer's disease, diabetes mellitus, atherosclerosis, hypertension and obesity.

Cancer

One such study suggested that the increased DNA synthesis and induced levels of ornithine decarboxylase (OCD) by MG suggest its carcinogenic potential (Furihata et al, 1985). In another study, MG was added to the drinking water of the animals for about 32 weeks and increased incidence of pyloric hyperplasia was observed (Takahashi et al, 1989). However, studies have also been conducted to suggest the opposite and hence, the role of MG in causing cancers is rather controversial.

Diabetes

MG is implicated in various micro and macro vascular complications of Diabetes Mellitus. Majority of these pathological changes are attributed to the phenomenon of AGEs formation and oxidative stress caused by MG. The accumulation of AGEs in kidneys leads to glomerulosclerosis, mesangial expansion, basement membrane thickening and tubulo-interstitial fibrosis and all these changes co-relate with structural aspects of diabetic nephropathy (Soulis-Liparota et al, 1995). Diabetic retinopathy mainly occurs by the loss of pericytes which is due to the thrombogenic and neovascularization activity of AGEs. This increases the permeability of proteins across the retinal barrier (Wautier & Schmidt, 2004). Diabetic neuropathy is characterized by nerve dysfunction and loss of pain perception and several studies proved the role of AGEs and RAGE in causing these changes by various mechanisms. One mechanism suggested that oxidative stress and NF- κ B induce expression of certain pro-inflammatory genes
which cause loss of pain perception and neuronal damage (Sugimoto et al, 2008). This involves modification of axonal cytoskeleton mainly the proteins actin, tubulin and ECM protein laminin which leads to degeneration and demyelination of peripheral nerves (Huijberts et al, 2008).

Evidence also suggests the role of glycation, AGEs and AGEs/RAGE interactions in accelerated atherosclerosis and cardiovascular complications in Diabetic patients. AGEs lead to modification of LDLs (low density lipoproteins) which cause endothelial inflammation, increased permeability and transcytosis leading to local oxidative stress and LDL oxidation. This further leads to uptake of modified LDLs by scavenger-receptor pathways and finally foam cells and atheromatous plaques are formed (Chait et al, 1993; Sima et al, 2009; Tames et al, 1992). Also, AGEs lead to modification of certain ECM proteins especially collagen which lead to intima-media thickening and arterial stiffening (Bortolotto, 2007).

Hypertension

MG is also implicated in causing essential hypertension through the production of AGEs and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Wu, 2006). AGEs are believed to cause hypertension mainly by decreasing the activity of the anti-oxidant enzymes and secondly by AGE-RAGE interaction leading to signaling of cellular pathways which ultimately lead to production of hypertension. One such pathway involves activation of $p21^{ras}$ followed by activation of MAPK leading to nuclear translocation of NF- κ B (Bourajjaj et al, 2003; Schmidt et al, 1999). On the other hand, ROS cause hypertension by different mechanisms. MG leads to the production of superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and peroxynitrite ROS which lead to decrease in nitric oxide and decreased endothelium dependent vasodilation. It is said that excessive peroxynitrite formations is worse than diminished NO levels in causing hypertension (Zalba et al, 2001a; Zalba et al, 2001b).

Hydrogen peroxide is also an important intracellular signaling molecules which leads to activation of certain cellular pathways which produce hypertension by vascular remodeling, endothelial dysfunction & blood vessel wall inflammation (Escobales & Crespo, 2005; Irani, 2000; Wilcox, 2005). Several other mechanisms are also under investigation.

Alzheimer's disease

One suggested theory is through glycation of tau protein which leads to formation of neurofibrillary tangles, one of the hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease. Also, Amyloid- β peptide and β -sheet fibrils are ligands for RAGE which triggers oxidative stress, inflammation and amyloidosis amplifying the neurotoxic effects on microglia, blood-brain barrier and neurons (Chen et al, 2007). Additionally, various AGEs like CML, MOLD & GOLD have been found in senile plaques further suggesting the role of MG in causing Alzheimer's disease (Takeuchi & Yamagishi, 2008).

Obesity

Studies have proved that levels of MG adducts in diabetics correlate with the levels of LDL cholesterol and triglycerides. This suggests the possible role of MG in causing obesity (Turk et al, 2011). Studies have also demonstrated that increased MG levels cause structural and functional alterations in the adipose tissues leading to obesity (Matafome et al, 2012). Studies have also been done which prove the role of AGE/RAGE interactions in causing obesity (Leuner et al, 2012).

MG has been proven to play a role in causing certain other pathological processes such as impaired wound healing, ageing, osteoporosis and beriberi (Negre-Salvayre et al, 2009).

Scavengers of methylglyoxal

In the recent past, various agents have been studied which can scavenge MG directly or indirectly by inhibiting AGEs or modifying the pathways through which it exerts it deleterious effects. A few of those agents have been described below.

L-Arginine



Figure 9. Structure of L-arginine (Source of image: http://www.drugbank.ca/drugs/DB00125)

L-arginine (Fig. 9) is a potent scavenger of MG which acts by e-NOS dependent and also through e-NOS independent mechanisms. L-arginine is a substrate for nitric oxide synthase (NOS) which leads to the production of nitric oxide (NO) and L-citrulline (Palmer et al, 1988). One of the important isoforms of NOS is endothelial NOS (eNOS) which mediates endothelium dependent vascular relaxation through production of NO. Reduced availability of eNOS can lead to diminished NO and hence, reduced endothelial vessel relaxation ultimately leading to endothelial dysfunction which is the hall mark of many diseases such as diabetes and hypertension (Potenza et al, 2009). Also, L-arginine is a substrate for another important enzyme i.e. arginase which is expressed mainly in the endothelium and is responsible for maintaining the eNOS as well as normal endothelial function. Hence, lack of this enzyme can also lead to endothelial dysfunction (Berkowitz et al, 2003; Zhang et al, 2001). However, L-arginine can also attenuate MG and high glucose induced endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress and AGEs by directly binding to MG and inactivating it (Dhar et al, 2012). Studies have shown that though L-arginine can attenuate the increased protein expression, it cannot control the increased arginase activity due to the high glucose diet. So, further studies need to be done to evaluate the protective role of L-arginine against MG before its therapeutic application.

Aminoguanidine

Aminoguanidine is the most extensively used MG and AGEs scavenger used till date. It acts by inhibiting the cross linking or glycation of the proteins and hence, prevents formation of AGEs from MG (Carvalho et al, 2011; Thornalley, 2003). Also, it inhibits the formation of MG from aminoacetone by irreversible inhibition of the enzyme SSAO which catalyzes this conversion (Casazza et al, 1984). Aminoguanidine can also reduce oxidative stress by inhibition of peroxynitrite and inducible NOS formation (Misko et al, 1993; Szabo et al, 1997). Studies have also proved that aminoguanidine prevents age related cardiac hypertrophy and aortic stiffening (Li et al, 1996). Also, it has been proved that aminoguanidine arrests age related hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) by scavenging MG (Wang et al, 2007).

Alagebrium (ALT-711)

Alagebrium is mainly used as a AGEs cross-link breaking compound or an AGE- breaker. It is a stable derivative formed upon the degradation of phenacylthiazolium bromide (PTB) which is one of the first detected and commonly used AGE breaker (Wolffenbuttel et al, 1998). Studied have shown that intraperitoneal injection of ALT-711 (1 mg/kg) given daily for 1 or 3 weeks reversed diabetes induced arterial stiffening both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Zieman et al, 2007). It is

the only AGEs cross breaker being tested in human trials. A clinical study conducted by nine US centers has found that aged patients treated with ALT-711 showed improved arterial compliance and reduced vascular stiffening (Kass et al, 2001). Hence, ALT-711 can be a very useful therapeutic weapon against AGEs. Another set of studies have shown acute effects of alagebrium on MG and changes produced by it. It was seen that alagebrium attenuated the increased MG levels in the plasma, aorta, heart, kidney, liver, lung and urine after MG administration. In MG-treated rats, glucose tolerance was impaired, plasma insulin levels were higher and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake by adipose tissue was reduced and all these changes were reduced by treatment with alagebrium (Dhar et al, 2010a).

Metformin

Metformin is an oral hypoglycemic agent which has a guanidino structure and this means it can not only lower the blood glucose levels but also react with α -dicarbonyl compounds and prevent their toxic effects as well as inhibits the formation of AGEs (Beisswenger et al, 1999). In this study, it was suggested that metformin reduces MG levels in a dose dependent manner. Another possible mechanism of metformin action is that it increases levels of reduced glutathione and hence, enhances detoxification of MG (Rahbar et al, 2000). It is also a potent inhibitor of glycation. Chronic treatment with metformin lead to a reduction in AGEs formation in lens, kidneys and various other organs in diabetic rats (Tanaka et al, 1999).

N-acetyl cysteine

N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) is another potent MG scavenger (Jia & Wu, 2007; Vasdev et al, 1998) which is a cysteine containing compound. Since, MG has a high affinity to cysteine, it

readily binds with NAC. Also, N-acetyl cysteine can increase levels of GSH which leads to increased degradation of MG (McLellan et al, 1994). It can also directly react with free radicals and is thus, a potent antioxidant as well (Aruoma et al, 1989; Dekhuijzen, 2004).

Other than MG scavengers, there are agents which act specifically on AGEs and we divide these into 2 categories: (i) AGE inhibitors & (ii) AGE breakers.

AGE inhibitors are defined as agents, which target one of the steps in the synthesis of MG. On the other hand, AGE breakers break cross-linking between proteins and hence, degrade AGEs. Table 1 below shows a few members of both these classes.

AGE BREAKERS	AGE INHIBITORS	
Phenacylthiazolium bromide (PTB)	Aminoguanidine	
Alagebrium (previously ALT-711)	Metformin	
5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA)	Pioglitazone	
	Tenilsetam	

Table 1. AGE inhibitors and breakers

High carbohydrate diets

In terms of biochemistry, carbohydrates are macromolecules consisting of carbon, hydrogen and oxygen atoms. Another term used for them is 'saccharide' and they are classified into 4 different groups, namely: (i) monosaccharides (ii) disaccharides (iii) oligosaccharides and (iv) polysaccharides. Generally, mono and disaccharides are smaller carbohydrate molecules and are known commonly as 'sugars'. Oligosaccharides usually are polymers of monosaccharides (3-9) and found mainly on the plasma membrane of animal cells. Polysaccharides are very big and bulky polymers formed by long chains of monosaccharide units combined by glycosidic bonds (Flitsch & Ulijn, 2003). Examples of monosaccharides are glucose and fructose whereas sucrose (glucose + fructose) and lactose (glucose+galactose) are examples of disaccharides. Fructooligosaccharides are an examples of the third family (Bode, 2009). Cellulose, starch and glycogen are examples of the polysaccharides.

High carbohydrate diets are traditionally defined as foods with high glycemic index (71-100) but now the view is changing. Sugars such as fructose which has a lower glycemic index has become a major concern owing to its increased rates of consumption in the modern day diet and its association with various pathological conditions such as obesity, dyslipidemia, diabetes, hypertension and insulin resistance (Singh et al, 2008). Fructose is found in the soft drinks, sweetened beverages and high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) (Table 2). Since sucrose gets degraded to fructose and glucose in body, consumption of sucrose leads to increased levels of these sugars in the blood and hence, sucrose rich diets are also under study because of the increasing view that dietary patterns especially the increased sugar consumption rates are connected with the pathogenesis of several diseases.

Year	HFCS	Total caloric sweeteners	HFCS as percentage of total caloric sweeteners	Percentage of HFCS from HFCS-42	Percentage of HFCS from HFCS-55
	$g \cdot person^{-1} \cdot d^{-1}$	$g \cdot person^{-1} \cdot d^{-1}$	%	%	%
1966	0.0	165.9	0.0	_	_
1970	0.8	175.1	0.4	100.0	0.0
1975	7.1	168.8	4.2	100.0	0.0
1980	27.3	176.0	15.5	71.2	28.8
1985	64.7	184.4	35.1	34.3	65.7
1990	71.0	195.7	36.3	41.0	59.0
1995	82.3	211.7	38.9	39.9	60.1
2000	91.6	218.0	42.0	38.8	61.2

 Table 2. Availability of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) in the caloric sweetener

 supply in United States. HFCS-42 and HFCS-55 contain 42% and 55% fructose,

 respectively. [Source of table: (Bray et al, 2004)].

Various studies have been done to prove the deleterious and harmful effects of high carbohydrate diets. In mice, it was seen that treatment with high carbohydrate diets lead to metabolic dysfunction by increasing visceral adiposity and glucose intolerance and altering levels of leptin and adiponectin. It also causes distortions in regulation of body weight and predisposes them to early adult-onset obesity (Srinivasan et al, 2008). Meta-analysis of clinical trials with high carbohydrate diets has proven that they are associated with increased cardiovascular risks, greater magnitude of insulin resistance and poorer lipid profiles in type-2 diabetes mellitus patients (Kodama et al, 2009).

Differences between Fructose, Sucrose and Glucose

Structure

While glucose and fructose have the same molecular formula, their chemical structures are different. Glucose forms a pyranose ring structure (six-membered ring) and fructose has a

furanose ring structure (five-membered ring) (Fig. 10). They both condense to form a disaccharide sugar called Sucrose. Their structures can be represented as shown below:



Figure 10. Chemical structures of all glucose, fructose and sucrose.

Image-source: <u>http://www.themadscienceblog.com/2013/08/sugars-sugar-alcohols-and-sweet-</u> taste.html

Absorption and metabolism

Disaccharides such as sucrose are cleaved into glucose and fructose on entering the intestine. Glucose and fructose are absorbed and metabolized differently in the body. Looking at the mechanisms of their absorption, glucose is absorbed actively by a sodium dependent transporter, glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) which is located on the apical membrane of the intestinal epithelial cells. On the other hand, fructose is absorbed down duodenum and jejunum

by facilitated diffusion through another transporter, GLUT 5 (Bray et al, 2004). This process does not require energy being non-sodium dependent (Havel, 2005).

Also, these two sugars differ in the way they are metabolized in the body. Glucose metabolism is tightly regulated by insulin and phosphofructokinase. Glucose triggers the release of insulin from the pancreatic beta cells and in turn, insulin signals the insulin sensitive tissues i.e. muscle cells, adipocytes and liver cells to take up and store glucose. Insulin also regulates the GLUT 4 expression (Czech, 1995). When insulin levels are low, GLUT4 glucose transporters are present inside the cytoplasmic vesicles where they are used for transporting glucose. Binding of the insulin to receptors on such cells signals these tissues and leads to the rapid fusion of these vesicles with the plasma membrane and insertion of the glucose transporters, thus, giving the cells the ability to take up glucose. Again, when the insulin concentration in blood falls, these transporters are recycled back into the cytoplasm. Hence, glucose is mainly metabolized in the extra-hepatic tissues.

In contrast to this, fructose is mainly metabolized in the liver itself and the process is noninsulin dependent. Fructose metabolism bypasses phosphofructokinase and fructose is phosphorylated to fructose-1-phosphate by fructokinase and ATP. Hence, chronic fructose consumption can up-regulate fructokinase enzyme activity in rats and humans & can lead to ATP depletion (Ouyang et al, 2008).

Lipogenesis

Fructose is more lipogenic than glucose. Fructose-1-phosphate generated by fructose phosphorylation is further catalyzed by aldolase B to glyceraldehyde (GA) & dihydroxyacetone (DHA) phosphate which are intermediated in the glycolysis pathway. DHA phosphate can be converted into glycerol-3-phosphate which provides the glycerol portion for the triglyceride

synthesis (Havel, 2005). GA also proceeds to generate pyruvate which further forms the acetylcoA catalyzed by pyruvate dehydrogenase, hence, providing substrate for fatty acid synthesis. Thus, by provision of both glycerol-3-phosphate as well as substrates for fatty acid synthesis, fructose triggers the de novo synthesis of triglycerides (Mayes, 1993). Fructose also leads to decreased very low density lipoproteins (VLDL)-triacylglycerol clearance (Faeh et al, 2005).

Also, unlike glucose, fructose does not stimulate leptin secretion (Bray et al, 2004) due to lack of GLUT 5 receptors in the pancreatic beta cells. Leptin promotes the feeling of satiety and lack of leptin secretion with a fructose rich diet prolongs hunger and enhanced desire for food which leads to increased body fat. This can lead to increased obesity in people consuming fructose rich diets.

Despite all their differences, there are however some similarities too between glucose and fructose. Both of them are associated with production of MG (Fig. 11) as well as generation of reactive oxygen species and causation of oxidative stress. Also, both of them are capable of producing the AGEs (Beisswenger et al, 2003; Rosca et al, 2005). Both of them have been implicated in several diabetic complications and worsening of the diabetic state in general. Additionally, fructose also leads to metabolic syndrome (Rutledge & Adeli, 2007) and other chronic diseases such as fatty liver and kidney toxicity (Gaby, 2005).



Figure 11. Generation of methylglyoxal from fructose and glucose. The figure shows the metabolic pathway of fructose, which bypasses phosphofructokinase, a regulatory enzyme for the glycolysis pathway. This means that when fructose is metabolized there is a continuous supply of substrates to the glycolysis pathway and lipogenesis. Both pathways provide triose phosphate intermediates from which methylglyoxal is formed. Abbreviations: Fructose-1-P, fructose-1-phosphate; Glycerol-3-P, glycerol-3-phosphate; P, phosphate; ROS, reactive oxygen species. [Source of figure: (Danpure, 2004)].

My project was designed with a primary aim to increase our knowledge about the endogenous generation of MG from two of the most commonly, encountered monosaccharides in our diet, *viz.* glucose and fructose. The detailed rationale for my project is described in the following section.

Rationale for the study

MG has been known to scientists for many years. Numerous research articles have been published. Yet, the surprising fact is that not enough is known about the endogenous production of MG in different organs and cells. For example the endogenous levels of MG in all the organs and tissues are not known. The plasma concentrations of MG have been measured and reported in several studies but only in limited species such as humans, rats and mice (Espinosa-Mansilla et al, 2007; Espinosa-Mansilla et al, 1998; Haik et al, 1994; Jia & Wu, 2007; Kandhro et al, 2008; Lodge-Ivey et al, 2004; Nemet et al, 2004; Wang et al, 2007). Moreover, the concentrations reported in a given species vary quite a bit, which most probably is due to the method employed. MG is reactive and unstable and mostly exists in a bound form (Chaplen et al, 1998). It is well established that glucose is the most abundant precursor of MG formed metabolically in the body. This fact assumes great importance currently because our diets have very high amounts of carbohydrates, especially free glucose, fructose and sucrose. Theoretically, consumption of high amounts of these monosaccharides and disaccharide would produce high amounts of MG. Also, it is a well-known biochemical fact that glucose and fructose are metabolized differently in the body (Johnson et al, 2009; Johnson et al, 2007; Wolfe & Ahuja, 1977). Therefore, our aim for this study was to determine MG levels in the plasma, urine and different organs/tissues of Sprague-Dawley rats fed chronically with a high glucose or a high fructose diet. We chose a commercial source (Harlan Laboratories Inc., Madison, WI, USA) of these diets to standardize the feed. The diets had either high fructose or high glucose, which provided 60% of total daily caloric requirements. The average North American diet is believed to provide upto 15% of total calories from fructose (Vos et al, 2008), thus the 60% carbohydrate diets we chose provides higher amounts of calories from carbohydrates. However, this can be

justified by the fact that the commonly used normal rat chow provides 60% of total calories from carbohydrates, mainly in the form of starch (LabDiet.com, 2013). Moreover, a high fructose diet providing 60% of total caloric intake is typically used for research in animals (de Moura et al, 2009; Galipeau et al, 2001; Oudot et al, 2013; Sanchez-Lozada et al, 2010; Tobey et al, 1982; Zavaroni et al, 1980). The idea is that using 60% of carbohydrate derived calories will speed up any carbohydrate-induced pathology to facilitate a shorter feeding time and a more practical research protocol.

Any observed pathological effect believed to be due to MG can be confirmed by preventing or attenuating it with a MG scavenger. Arginine has great affinity for MG (Lo et al, 1994; Takahashi, 1977) and our lab has shown it to be an effective MG scavenger *in vitro* (Dhar et al, 2012). However, there are hardly any papers showing that arginine is an effective MG scavenger *in vivo*. Therefore, we decided to use L-arginine as a MG scavenger for our *in vivo* study. If L-arginine is shown to be an effective MG scavenger *in vivo* then it can be safely used to prevent the harmful effects of high carbohydrate diets that are mediated by excess MG production. L-arginine is already used as an oral supplement by people for various conditions (Alvares et al, 2011; Bailey et al, 2010; Clarkson et al, 1996; Coman et al, 2008; Creager et al, 1992; Dong et al, 2011; Koga et al, 2006). The fact that L-arginine can enhance NO production would be an added benefit to the MG scavenging effect of L-arginine.

Hypotheses and objectives

Hypotheses:

- 1. High fructose and high glucose diets produce different amounts of methylglyoxal in the plasma and different organs/tissues of the body.
- 2. The GSH levels in different organs/tissues will be reciprocal to the methylglyoxal levels.
- 3. Glucose tolerance to an oral glucose load is associated with methylglyoxal levels in the plasma, pancreas, adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle.
- 4. L-arginine will attenuate the increase in methylglyoxal levels caused by high carbohydrate diets in the plasma and different organs/tissues by acting as a scavenger.

Objectives

- To investigate whether chronic feeding for 12 weeks with a high glucose or a fructose diet produces different amounts/levels of MG in the plasma and different organs/tissues in Sprague-Dawley rats.
- To measure and compare the amounts of reduced glutathione (GSH) following chronic high fructose or high glucose diet feeding in different organs of the body and determine differences and similarities.
- 3. To examine the effects of a high glucose and a high fructose diet on oral glucose tolerance and the insulin response in the plasma.
- 4. To examine whether L-arginine can attenuate or prevent any elevations of MG levels in the plasma or different organs/tissues in rats.

Methods and materials

Animals

All animal protocols were approved by the University of Saskatchewan's Animal Research Ethics Board, following guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Male 9-week old 45 Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories) were used after one week of acclimatization. The following treatments were used: (i) **Carbohydrate (Carb) control diet**: Cat **# TD.05075** (Harlan Laboratories Inc., Madison, WI, USA), (ii) **High fructose diet**: **Teklad Cat # TD.89247, 60% fructose diet**, (iii) **High glucose diet**: **Teklad Cat # TD.05256, 60% glucose diet**, (iv) **L-arginine: 500 mg/kg/day in drinking water** (Lee et al, 2009; Matsuoka et al, 1996; Xu et al, 2010) (pH adjusted to 7.4). L-arginine was given in drinking water due to the long period of administration spanning 12 weeks. Administration of drugs by daily gavage for 84 days would have caused a lot of stress and would most likely not be approved by the Animal Ethics Board due to the alternate available option of giving it in drinking water. The rats were randomly divided into the following treatment groups (*n* = 6-8 each):

(1) Control – Normal chow diet (n = 6), (2) High fructose (60% Fructose diet) (n = 8), (3) High fructose (60% in diet) + L-arginine (a methylglyoxal scavenger, 500 mg/kg/day in drinking water) (n = 8), (4) High glucose (60% glucose diet) (n = 8), (5) High glucose (60% in diet) + L-arginine (500 mg/kg/day in drinking water) (n = 8), (6) L-arginine (500 mg/kg/day in drinking water) (n = 8), (6) L-arginine (500 mg/kg/day in drinking water) (n = 8), (6) L-arginine (500 mg/kg/day in drinking water) alone (n = 7). All groups were treated for 12 weeks (we have treated rats with a high sucrose diet, but the samples have not been analyzed).

Body weight was recorded before and at the end of the treatment period since high carbohydrate diets are lipogenic (Samuel, 2011). Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was measured at the end of the 12 week treatment period, since high fructose (Chen et al, 2010; Hwang et al, 1987; Jalal et al, 2010; Madero et al, 2011a; Madero et al, 2011b; Perez-Pozo et al, 2010) and high glucose (Kaufman et al, 1991) have been reported to increase the blood pressure (BP). Fructose-induced hypertension has been ascribed to an increase in synthesis and plasma and intracellular levels of uric acid (Madero et al, 2011b; Perez-Pozo et al, 2010). Since changes in the BP were not the primary focus of this study, we did not use radiotelemetry to measure the BP, which is invasive and may cause inflammation, stress, and risk of infection. After the 12 week treatment period the rats were fasted overnight (12-16 h with free access to water only). The MAP was measured over 30 min with an intrarterial (right carotid artery) catheter in the anesthetized (thiopental sodium 100 mg/kg i.p.) rat (Laight et al, 1999), following which a basal blood sample (0.5 mL) was collected in an EDTA tube and the plasma was separated and stored at -80° C to measure levels of MG (by HPLC), fasting glucose and insulin levels. Freshly separated plasma from 1 mL blood collected in a heparinized tube was sent to the Clinical Biochemistry lab at the Royal University Hospital to measure triglycerides, cholesterol and high density lipoprotein (because high carbohydrate diets can alter lipid levels) levels. An oral glucose tolerance test was performed as described later (Dhar et al, 2011). The rat was killed by cutting open the heart at the end of the experiment and causing exsanguination. The organs/tissues were quickly removed, rinsed in 0.9% saline, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C.

Measurement of mean arterial pressure

The mean arterial pressure (MAP) was measured at the end of 12 weeks of treatment with an intra-arterial catheter in anesthetized rats, a technique routinely used in our lab (Desai et al, 2006). The rats were anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of thiopental sodium (100 mg/kg body wt in a 25 mg/ml solution), and placed on a heated pad to maintain a temperature of 37°C. The trachea was cannulated with a PE240 tubing to facilitate spontaneous respiration. The right carotid artery was cannulated with a PE50 tubing. The carotid cannula (id 0.5, od 1.0 mm) was filled with heparinized saline (50 U/ml) and connected to a pressure transducer to record mean arterial pressure using the Powerlab data acquisition system and the Lab Chart Pro software (AD Instruments Pvt. Ltd., Sydney, Australia).

Measurement of methylglyoxal

MG was measured by a specific and sensitive high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method which was standardized in our lab (Dhar et al, 2009). The frozen organs were powdered under liquid nitrogen. A weighed amount of organ/tissue powder was reconstituted in sodium phosphate buffer (pH 4.5), vortexed and kept on ice. The sample was sonicated (30 s pulses, three times). The sample was then centrifuged (12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4° C). The supernatant was removed and kept on ice for further analysis. The pellet was discarded. The supernatant was incubated with 0.45 N (final concentration) perchloric acid (PCA) and 10 mM *o*-phenylenediamine (*o*-PD) for 24 h in a closed box at room temperature to protect it from light. The PCA incubation was performed to precipitate all the soluble proteins and also to free the reversibly bound MG from proteins and other molecules. PCA would also inhibit metabolic

reactions. *o*-PD was used as a thermodynamic trap to bind and derivatize the free MG and form the stable product 2-methylquinoxaline (2-MQ) (Fig. 12) (Dhar et al, 2009).



Sources of images: <u>http://www.chemspider.com/Chemical-Structure.13837582.html</u> <u>http://www.chemspider.com/Chemical-Structure.22148.html</u> <u>http://www.chemspider.com/Chemical-Structure.857.html?rid=dc7de505-c675-4015-a0d7-44e4b8fe9df1</u>

Figure 12. Derivatization of methylglyoxal for HPLC. Free methylglyoxal in the sample was derivatized with o-phenylene diamine to form the stable 2-methylquinoxaline, which was then quantitated with high performance liquid chromatography.

Next day the samples were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was mixed with the internal standard 5-methylquinoxaline (10 μ M final concentration, 10% vol: vol). The 2-methylquinoxaline and 5-methylquinoxaline internal standard were detected with a UV detector on a Hitachi D-7000 HPLC system (Hitachi Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada), with a Phenomenex kinetex C18 (5 μ m, 100 Å) column (150 x 4.6 mm). 20% acetonitrile and 8% sodium phosphate (pH 4.5) in distilled water were used to constitute the mobile phase. All samples were analyzed in duplicates. The ratio of the area under the curves for 2-MQ and 5-MQ peaks was used to calculate the MG concentration from a standard curve of known 2-MQ concentrations. The concentration of MG in organ/tissue samples was standardized to the protein concentration of the sample.

The protein concentration of the supernatant obtained after sonication and centrifugation was determined using a Bio-Rad *DC* protein assay kit (Cat # 500-0111, Bio-Rad Laboratories Canada Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada),

Measurement of reduced glutathione: Monochlorobimane (mCB) approach

The GSH in a sample was measured fluorometric method using monochlorobimane (mCB), which was standardized by Kamencic et al (Kamencic et al, 2000). The working principle of this method is that mCB added to a sample of tissue homogenate reacts with GSH to form a fluorescent GSH-mCB adduct. This reaction is catalyzed by glutathione-S-transferase.

For this assay the frozen organs were powdered under liquid nitrogen. A weighed amount of organ/tissue powder was reconstituted in 20 vol of cold 50 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.4), vortexed and kept on ice. The sample was sonicated (30 s pulses, three times). The sample was then centrifuged (12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4° C). The supernatant was removed and kept on ice for further analysis. The pellet was discarded. mCB was added to the supernatant to a final concentration of 100 μ M along with glutathione *S*-transferase (1 U/ml, Cat. # G 6511, Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada) obtained from equine liver. The homogenate was then allowed to incubate at room temperature for 30 min. The GSH–mCB adduct was measured in a Labsystems Fluoroskan II microtiter reader with excitation at 380 nm and emission measured at 470 nm.

GSH standards preparation

To prepare the standards, GSH was dissolved in 50 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.4) to obtain a final concentration of 1.0 mM. This GSH standard solution was incubated with mCB and glutathione *S*-transferase. GSH and glutathione *S*-transferase (Cat. No. G 6511) were purchased from Sigma (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada). Monochlorobimane (Cat # M-1381MP) was purchased from Life Technologies (Life Technologies Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada).

Oral glucose tolerance test

An oral glucose tolerance test was performed as described earlier by our lab (Dhar et al, 2011). The rat was fasted overnight and placed in a metabolic cage. The urine was collected. The rat had free access to plain water or L-arginine (500 mg/kg body wt) containing water as the case may be. After the overnight fast the rat was anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of thiopental sodium (100 mg/kg body wt in a 25 mg/ml solution), and placed on a heated pad to maintain a temperature of 37°C. The trachea was cannulated with a PE240 tubing to facilitate spontaneous respiration. The right carotid artery was cannulated with a PE50 tubing.

After a basal blood sample of 0.5 mL was collected in an EDTA containing tube from the carotid artery, an oral glucose load (1 g/kg body wt) was given with a stomach tube. Further blood samples of 0.4 mL each were collected at 15, 30, 60, and 120 min from the carotid artery. The samples were always kept on ice. The blood sample containing Eppendorf tubes were centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 min and the plasma was separated and stored at -80° C for later analysis. Plasma glucose levels were determined using a glucose colorimetric assay kit (Cat # 10009582, Cayman Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI, USA). The insulin levels were measured with a rat insulin ELISA assay kit (Cat # 10-1250-01, Mercodia Inc., Winston Salem, NC, USA). The

results were plotted using the PRISM software (v. 5, GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA) and analyzed statistically.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of results was performed with one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-hoc test to determine significant differences between pairs of all groups. A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered to be significant. The results are expressed as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM).

RESULTS

High glucose and high fructose diets significantly increase the mean arterial pressure in rats but did not affect the body weight

Feeding 10 week old male Sprague-Dawley rats for 12 weeks with either a high glucose (60% of total calories) or a high fructose (60% of total calories) diet did not affect the increase in body wts compared to the control group (Fig. 13). However, the high glucose and high fructose diets significantly increased the mean arterial pressure, compared to the control (Fig. 14), as measured with a carotid artery cannula in anesthetized rats at the end of the 12 week treatment period. Co-treatment with the MG scavenger L-arginine (500 mg/kg body wt in drinking water) did not attenuate the increase in mean arterial pressure caused by high glucose and high fructose diets. Surprisingly, treatment with L-arginine alone also caused a significant increase the mean arterial pressure compared to the control (Fig. 14).

High fructose diet significantly increases plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels in rats

Treatment of 10 week old male Sprague-Dawley rats for 12 weeks with a high fructose diet significantly increased the fasting plasma levels of total cholesterol and triglycerides compared to the control group (Figs. 15A, D). Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated fructose-induced increase in total cholesterol but not in triglyceride level (Figs. 15A, D). Treatment with a high glucose diet for 12 weeks did not increase plasma total cholesterol or triglyceride levels compared to the control (Figs. 15A, D). L-arginine alone also did not increase plasma total cholesterol or triglyceride levels compared to the control (Figs. 15A, D). L-arginine alone also did not increase plasma total cholesterol or triglyceride levels compared to the control (Figs. 15A, D). L-arginine alone also did not increase plasma total cholesterol or triglyceride levels compared to the control group. There was no change in HDL levels or the total cholesterol/HDL ratio with either of the treatments (Fig. 15B, C).



Figure 13. High glucose and high fructose diets do not affect the increase in body weights, compared to control, in rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg, 500 mg/kg body weight in drinking water) for 12 weeks. The body weights were measured at the start of treatment (10 weeks, hatched bars) and at the end of 12 weeks of treatment (solid bars). Statistical analysis was performed with a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. (n = 6-8).



Figure 14. High glucose and high fructose diets increase the mean arterial pressure in rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg, 500 mg/kg body weight in drinking water) for 12 weeks. Mean arterial pressure was measured from the carotid artery in the anesthetized rats. *P<0.05, **P < 0.01. (n = 6-8).



Figure 15. A high fructose diet increases plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels in rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. Plasma total cholesterol, HDL and triglycerides were measured by the Clinical Chemistry Lab. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).

High glucose and high fructose diets significantly increase plasma methylglyoxal levels

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with either a high glucose or a high fructose diet significantly increased the plasma levels of MG compared to the control group (Fig. 16). Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated glucose-induced, but not fructose-induced increase in plasma MG levels. Surprisingly, treatment with L-arginine alone also caused a significant increase in plasma MG compared to the control group (Fig. 16).

High glucose and high fructose diets significantly increase methylglyoxal levels in the aorta and mesenteric vascular bed in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with either a high glucose or a high fructose diet significantly increased the MG levels in the aorta (Fig. 17) and the mesenteric vascular bed (Fig. 18) compared to the control group. Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated glucose-induced as well as fructose-induced increase in the MG levels in both tissues. Treatment with L-arginine alone did not increase in the MG levels in these vessels (Figs. 17, 18).

High glucose and high fructose diets did not affect methylglyoxal or glutathione levels in the brain, the heart and the kidneys in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with either a high glucose or a high fructose diet, either alone or combined with L-arginine, did not affect the MG levels or the GSH levels in the brain (Fig. 19), the heart (Fig. 20) or the kidneys (Fig. 21), compared to the control group. Treatment with L-arginine alone also did not affect the MG levels in these three organs.



Figure 16. High fructose and high glucose diets increase plasma methylglyoxal (MG) in rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. Plasma MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. *P<0.05, **P<0.01. (n = 6-8).



Figure 17. High fructose and high glucose diets increase methylglyoxal (MG) in the aorta of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The aorta was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).



Figure 18. High fructose and high glucose diets increase methylglyoxal (MG) in the mesenteric artery of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The mesenteric vessels were homogenized and MG was derivatized with ophenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).



Figure 19. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) or reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the brain of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The brain was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. (n = 6-8).



Figure 20. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) or reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the heart of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The heart was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. *P<0.05. (n = 6-8).



Figure 21. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) or reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the kidney of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The kidney was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. (n = 6-8).

A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, significantly increases methylglyoxal and glutathione levels in the liver in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with either a high fructose diet significantly increased the MG levels and the GSH levels in the liver compared to the control and the glucose treated groups (Fig. 22). Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated the fructose-induced increase in GSH levels but not MG levels. Treatment with a high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, or treatment with L-arginine alone did not affect the MG and GSH levels in the liver, compared to the control group (Fig. 22).

L-arginine significantly increases methylglyoxal levels and decreases glutathione levels in the skeletal muscles in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with L-arginine alone (500 mg/kg body wt in drinking water) significantly increased the MG levels and decreased the GSH levels in the skeletal muscle, compared to the control group (Fig. 23). Treatment with a high fructose diet combined with L-arginine also significantly increased the MG level, but did not affect the GSH level, compared to the control group. A high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, did not affect the MG or GSH levels in the skeletal muscle (Fig. 23).



Figure 22. A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, increases methylglyoxal (MG) and reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the liver of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The liver was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01. (n = 6-8).


Figure 23. L-arginine increases methylglyoxal (MG) and decreases reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the skeletal muscle of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The skeletal muscles were homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).

A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, significantly decreases methylglyoxal and increases glutathione levels in the adipose tissue in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with a high fructose diet significantly decreased the MG levels and increased the GSH levels in the adipose tissue, compared to the control group (Fig. 24). Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated the fructose-induced decrease in MG level and increase in GSH level. Treatment with a high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, or treatment with L-arginine alone did not affect the MG and GSH levels in the adipose tissue, compared to the control group (Fig. 24).

A high fructose diet significantly decreases methylglyoxal levels, whereas a high glucose diet increases glutathione levels, in the small intestine in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with a high fructose diet significantly decreased the MG levels in the small intestine, without affecting the GSH levels, compared to the control group (Fig. 25). Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated the fructose-induced decrease in MG levels. On the other hand, a high glucose diet significantly increased the GSH levels in the small intestine, without affecting the MG levels, compared to the control. Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated the glucose-induced increase in GSH levels. Treatment with L-arginine alone did not affect the MG and GSH levels in the small intestine, compared to the control group (Fig. 25).



Figure 24. A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, decreases methylglyoxal (MG) and increases glutathione (GSH) levels in the adipose tissue of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The adipose tissue was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).



Figure 25. A high fructose diet decreases methylglyoxal (MG) level whereas a high glucose diet increases reduced glutathione (GSH) levels in the small intestine of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The small intestine was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).

A high fructose diet significantly increases methylglyoxal levels, compared to a high glucose diet, in the lungs in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with a high fructose diet significantly increased the MG levels in the lungs, compared to the high glucose diet treated and L-arginine treated groups, but not compared to the control group (Fig. 26). High fructose diet did not affect the GSH levels in the lungs. Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated the fructose-induced increase in MG levels. Treatment with a high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, or treatment with L-arginine alone did not affect the MG and GSH levels in the lungs, compared to the control group (Fig. 26).

A high fructose diet significantly increases methylglyoxal levels, compared to a high glucose diet, in the spleen in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with a high fructose diet significantly increased the MG levels in the spleen, compared to the high glucose diet treated group but not compared to control (Fig. 27). The high fructose diet did not affect the GSH levels in the spleen. Co-treatment with L-arginine attenuated the fructose-induced increase in MG levels. Treatment with a high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, or treatment with L-arginine alone did not affect the MG and GSH levels in the spleen, compared to the control group (Fig. 27).



Figure 26. A high fructose diet increases methylglyoxal (MG) level, compared to a high glucose diet, in the lungs of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The lungs were homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. ***P<0.001. (n = 6-8).



Figure 27. A high glucose diet decreases methylglyoxal (MG) level, compared to a high fructose diet, in the spleen of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The spleen was homogenized and MG was derivatized with ophenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. *P<0.05, **P<0.01. (n = 6-8).

A high glucose diet and L-arginine significantly increase methylglyoxal levels, compared to a high fructose diet, in the pancreas in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with a high glucose diet significantly increased the MG levels, compared to a high fructose diet, but not compared to the control group, in the pancreas (Fig. 28). Treatment with L-arginine alone also significantly increased the MG levels in the pancreas, compared to the control and high fructose groups. Treatment with a high fructose diet did not affect the MG levels, compared to the control group (Fig. 28). GSH levels were not measured in the pancreas.

High glucose and high fructose diets did not affect methylglyoxal levels in the urine in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with either a high glucose or a high fructose diet, either alone or combined with L-arginine, did not affect the MG levels in the urine (Fig. 29), compared to the control group. The GSH levels in the urine were not measured.



Figure 28. A high glucose diet and L-arginine increase methylglyoxal (MG) levels, compared to a high fructose diet, in the pancreas of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. The pancreas was homogenized and MG was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01. (*n* = 6-8).



Figure 29. High fructose and high glucose diets do not affect methylglyoxal (MG) levels in the urine of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. At the end of 12 weeks the rats were fasted overnight and the urine was collected in individual metabolic cages. The MG in the urine was derivatized with o-phenylenediamine to form 2-methylquinoxaline which was measured by HPLC. (n = 6-8).

L-arginine significantly decreases fasting plasma insulin levels in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with L-arginine alone (500 mg/kg body wt in drinking water) significantly decreased the fasting plasma insulin levels, compared to the control group (Fig. 30). Treatment with a high fructose diet or a high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, had no effect on fasting plasma insulin or glucose levels (Fig. 30).

A high glucose and high fructose diets do not affect plasma glucose and insulin area under curves (AUCs) following an oral glucose tolerance test in rats

Treatment of rats for 12 weeks with either a high fructose or a high glucose diet, alone or combined with L-arginine, did not affect the oral glucose tolerance test (Fig. 31). However, treatment with L-arginine alone (500 mg/kg body wt in drinking water) significantly decreased the insulin AUC, compared to the control group (Fig. 31, 32). Following an oral glucose load (1 g/kg body wt), plasma glucose and insulin levels were determined at specific times for upto 2 h. The AUCs were determined for the glucose and insulin curves.

Despite this, treatment with a high glucose diet significantly decreased plasma insulin levels at 15 and 30 min following the glucose load, compared to the control group at respective times, without affecting the plasma glucose levels (Fig. 33). Moreover, co-treatment with high glucose and L-arginine, significantly decreased plasma insulin at 30 and 120 min, compared to the control group at respective times (Fig. 33).

Treatment with a high fructose diet significantly decreased plasma insulin levels at 30 min following the glucose load, compared to the control group at respective time, without affecting the plasma glucose levels (Fig. 34).



Figure 30. L-arginine decreases fasting plasma insulin levels of rats. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high fructose (Fruc, 60%) diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. At the end of 12 weeks the rats were fasted overnight and fasting blood sample was collected. Plasma glucose and insulin were measured with assay kits. **P*<0.05, ****P*<0.001. (*n* = 6-8).



Figure 31. L-arginine reduces plasma insulin response following an oral glucose tolerance test. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet, a high glucose (Glu, 60%) or a high fructose (Fru, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. At the end of 12 weeks the rat was fasted overnight and fasting blood sample was collected from anesthetized rat. An oral glucose solution was administered at 1 g/kg body wt and further blood samples were collected from a carotid artery cannula at specific times. Plasma glucose and insulin were measured with assay kits. The area under curves (AUCs) were determined for the glucose and insulin plasma levels determined at specific times for up to 2 h. *P<0.05. (n = 6-8).



Figure 32. L-arginine does not affect glucose tolerance following an oral glucose tolerance test. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. At the end of 12 weeks the rat was fasted overnight and fasting blood sample was collected from anesthetized rat. An oral glucose solution was administered at 1 g/kg body wt and further blood samples were collected from a carotid artery cannula at specific times. Plasma glucose and insulin were measured with assay kits. ***P<0.01 *vs.* control at respective time point. (n = 6-8).



Figure 33. A high glucose diet alone or combined with L-arginine decrease plasma insulin response levels to an oral glucose tolerance test. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet or a high glucose (Glu, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. At the end of 12 weeks the rat was fasted overnight and fasting blood sample was collected from anesthetized rat. An oral glucose solution was administered at 1 g/kg body wt and further blood samples were collected from a carotid artery cannula at specific times. Plasma glucose and insulin were measured with assay kits. *P<0.05, **P<0.01 vs. control at respective time point. (n = 6-8).



Figure 34. A high fructose diet alone or combined with L-arginine do not affect glucose tolerance following an oral glucose tolerance test. Male 10 week old Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with either a control diet or a high fructose (Fru, 60%) diet alone or combined with the methylglyoxal scavenger, L-arginine (L-Arg,500 mg/kg body wt) for 12 weeks. At the end of 12 weeks the rat was fasted overnight and fasting blood sample was collected from anesthetized rat. An oral glucose solution was administered at 1 g/kg body wt and further blood samples were collected from a carotid artery cannula at specific times. Plasma glucose and insulin were measured with assay kits. *P<0.05 vs. control at respective time point. (n = 6-8).

Parameter	Fruc	Fruc + LA	Gluc	Gluc + LA	LA
Bodyweight	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
BP	1	1	1	1	1
TC	↑ vs. C, G	↑ vs. LA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
HDL	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
TC/HDL	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Triglycerides	↑	↑ vs. C, LA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
← MG levels →					
Plasma	↑	1	1	\leftrightarrow	↑
Aorta	↑ vs. C, FA	\leftrightarrow	↑ vs. C, GA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Mesent. artery	↑ vs. C, FA	\leftrightarrow	↑ vs. C, GA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Brain	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Heart	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow , \downarrow vs. LA	\leftrightarrow
Kidney	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Liver	↑ vs. C, G	\leftrightarrow	$\leftrightarrow, \downarrow $ vs. F	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Skeletal muscle	\leftrightarrow	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	1
Adipose tissue	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow	↔, ↑ vs. GA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Small intestine	Ļ	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow , \uparrow vs. G
Lungs	↑ vs. FA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Spleen	↑ vs. G	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↓ vs. C, LA	\leftrightarrow
Pancreas	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑ vs. F	\leftrightarrow	↑ vs. C, F
Urine	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
← GSH levels →					
Brain	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Heart	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↓ vs. LA	\leftrightarrow
Kidney	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Liver	↑ vs. C, FA,	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
	G, LA				
Skeletal muscle	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
Adipose tissue	↑ vs. C, G,	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
	LA				
Small intestine	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑ vs. C, GA	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Lungs	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Spleen	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Fasting levels and OGTT test					
Fasting glucose	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Fasting insulin	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
OGTT insulin	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↓

Table 3. Summary of results

(see next page)

Abbreviations: BP - blood pressure; C – control; F, Fruc - high fructose; G, Gluc - high glucose; GSH - reduced glutathione; HDL - high density lipoprotein; LA - L-arginine; MG – methylglyoxal; OGTT - oral glucose tolerance test; TC – triglycerides.

Symbols: \leftrightarrow no change compared to control; \uparrow increase or \downarrow decrease compared to control unless otherwise stated; < less than; > more than.

Discussion

MG is an important metabolite produce, probably almost continuously, in a variety of cells, organisms and humans, when they metabolize glucose. Research on MG has been going on for almost the last hundred years. Yet, some fundamental knowledge about MG is lacking. For example, to the best of our knowledge there is no report of intracellular levels of MG in almost any cell type. One probable reason for this lack of knowledge could be that MG is reactive and as soon as it is produced it most likely reacts with nearby molecules which have an affinity for it as a result of an exposed reactive group. Thus, it is doubtful if small amounts of MG generated inside a cell ever cross the cell membrane and leave the cell. The degradation of small amounts of MG is efficiently carried out mainly by the glyoxalase enzymes with the help of GSH (Thornalley, 1998; Vander Jagt & Hunsaker, 2003). The cysteine in GSH binds to MG and presents it to glyoxalase 1 as discussed in the introduction. Thus, the cellular levels of GSH are intricately related to the levels of MG. Adequate amounts of GSH are likely keeping the MG levels to a minimum and prevent its harmful reactions under normal physiological conditions. It also not known whether or how much MG is transported across cell membranes or whether it is absorbed after oral administration. One study had reported administration of MG in drinking water for 18 weeks, to study its effect on blood pressure (Vasdev et al, 1998; Vasdev & Stuckless, 2010). It was administered in a concentration of 0.2% from 0 to 5 weeks, 0.4% from 6 to 10 weeks and 0.8% from 11 to 18 weeks. However, the plasma or aortic or renal MG levels were not measured, which might have given a clue about the oral absorption of MG. MG also reacts with epithelial cells of the intestines and the colon (Baskaran & Balasubramanian, 1990) which makes its oral bioavailability questionable. Regarding transport across cell membranes one study has shown that incubation of cultured L6 muscle cells resulted in only $3.1 \pm 0.39\%$ of the 2.5 mM incubated MG to enter the cell (Riboulet-Chavey et al, 2006). Of this about 63% was in the membrane fraction and about 33% in the cytosolic fraction. Similarly, another study showed that incubation of cultured rat aortic smooth muscle cells with 160 μ M MG resulted in only 1.8% being incorporated in the cells (Che et al, 1997). These results show that very little MG crosses membranes and when it does most of it binds to the membrane, which can be explained by its reactivity.

MG has been shown to disrupt the cycle of GSH:GSSG and also reduces the activity and expression of enzymes involved in glutathione homeostasis, such as glutathione reductase (Blakytny & Harding, 1992) and glutathione peroxidase (Paget et al, 1998). This would reduce the levels of GSH (Kikuchi et al, 1999; Shinpo et al, 2000; Wu & Juurlink, 2002), which in turn would reduce the degradation of MG and set up a vicious cycle. Thus, it is logical to measure GSH alongwith MG in any determinations. Levels of one would most likely affect the other in long-term regulation.

Our lab had measured and reported the basal levels of MG in several different organs/tissues in 12 week old male Sprague-Dawley rats (Dhar et al, 2010a). One surprising finding was the apparent high levels of basal MG in the aorta, compared to other organs such as the heart, brain, liver, kidney and the lungs. The lab examined the absorption and distribution of MG to different organs after intraperitoneal administration of 17.25 mg/kg body wt. This study provided important clues about the transport of MG in and out of the blood. There was a further significant increase in the aortic MG levels over the basal level, which was attenuated by the MG scavenger alagebrium. There was also a significant increase in the MG levels in the heart, kidney, liver and the lungs over the basal levels, but not in the spleen and the brain. No increase in the MG levels in the brain can be explained by the difficulty of blood MG to cross the blood brain barrier. The urinary MG levels increased significantly after i.p. administration indicating excretion of blood MG into the urine. This would suggest that excess MG in the blood may be filtered rapidly by the glomerulus before it reacts with molecules in the blood, although this is just a conjecture.

The results of my study proved my first hypothesis that high fructose and high glucose diets produce different amounts of MG in some organs such as the liver, adipose tissue, small intestine, lungs, pancreas and the spleen. The difference was markedly significant in the liver and the pancreas. In some organs and the plasma it was not significantly different between high fructose and high glucose diets. Thus, the metabolism of these two monosaccharides in different organs, in terms of MG production requires further studies.

The results did not support my second hypothesis that the GSH levels in different organs/tissues will be reciprocal to the MG levels. However, in a couple of organs a reciprocal relationship between MG and GSH levels was observed. For example, MG decreased whereas GSH increased in the adipose tissue in high fructose treated rats (Fig. 24). Also, MG increased in the skeletal muscle whereas GSH decreased in L-arginine treated rats (Fig. 23). Other factors in the relationship between MG and GSH need to be investigated. For example, the level of antioxidant defenses and oxidative stress could affect GSH levels and GSH response to any increase in MG production.

The results did not reveal any impaired glucose tolerance or insulin resistance in high glucose and high fructose treated rats, so any relationship between MG levels in the pancreas, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle and plasma, and impaired glucose tolerance could not be established conclusively.

Regarding my fourth hypothesis that L-arginine will attenuate the increase in MG levels by acting as a scavenger, I obtained mixed results. Thus, L-arginine attenuated the increase in MG

levels caused by high fructose or high glucose diets in the plasma (in case of high glucose diet), and in some organs/tissues such as the aorta, mesenteric vessels, liver and lungs (in case of high fructose). On the other hand the increase in MG levels caused by a high fructose diet in the plasma was not attenuated by L-arginine.

Discussing the results further, my study showed that both, high glucose and high fructose diets, significantly increased the blood pressure as expected and as reported previously in other studies (Hwang et al, 1987; Jalal et al, 2010; Kaufman et al, 1991; Madero et al, 2011a; Madero et al, 2011b; Wang et al, 2008). This increase in blood pressure parallels the significant increase in plasma MG levels caused by high fructose and high glucose diets (Fig. 16). The association of increased blood pressure with the significant increase in aortic and mesenteric vascular bed MG levels caused by high glucose and high fructose diets (Figs. 17 and 18) can also be considered in studies of cause and effect. One interesting and surprising finding was that the MG scavenger Larginine did not attenuate the fructose- and glucose-induced increase in the blood pressure, and also that L-arginine itself caused a significant increase in the blood pressure. A surprising correlation is the fact that L-arginine also did not attenuate the increase in plasma MG levels caused by high fructose diet and L-arginine alone also caused a significant increase in plasma MG level (Fig. 16). It should be noted here L-arginine is a substrate for NO production (Palmer et al, 1988) in blood vessels and L-arginine supplements have been reported to lower the blood pressure (Dong et al, 2011). Thus, the increase in blood pressure and plasma MG levels by Larginine is a puzzling finding and will be investigated further in our lab. It should also be pointed out that MG has been proposed as one of the causative factors in hypertension development in Sprague-Dawley rats by our lab, possibly by up regulating the renin angiotensin aldosterone system (Dhar et al, 2013; Dhar et al, 2014).

A high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, increased plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels (Fig. 15). These results can be viewed to have significance with the finding that a high fructose diet, but not a high glucose diet, significantly increases MG levels in the liver (Fig. 22), which is the main organ of cholesterol and triglyceride synthesis and release into the plasma in the form of very low density lipoproteins and high density lipoproteins. Co-treatment with high fructose and L-arginine prevented the increase in liver MG level and plasma total cholesterol level, but it did not attenuate the fructose-induced increase in triglyceride levels. Larginine alone did not affect the plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels, which agrees with the finding that L-arginine alone had no effect on liver MG levels (Figs. 15 and 22). Our lab has shown that chronic treatment of Sprague-Dawley rats with MG for 4 weeks increased the expression of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase and sterol regulatory element binding protein-2 (SREBP-2) in the liver (Huang, 2011), which can explain increased cholesterol synthesis and increased plasma total cholesterol level. HMG CoA reductase is the rate limiting enzyme in cholesterol synthesis in the liver. MG also increased the expression microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) (Huang, 2011), which plays a role in the synthesis of very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) in the liver. Increased VLDL synthesis can explain the increase in plasma triglyceride level.

High glucose and high fructose diets caused a significant increase in the aortic and mesenteric vascular bed MG levels (Figs. 17 and 18), which was attenuated by L-arginine. This increase in vascular MG can be linked with the fact that MG causes endothelial dysfunction in rat aorta and cultured rat aortic endothelial cells and human umbilical vein endothelial cells, which can be attenuated by two different MG scavengers, aminoguanidine and NAC, as shown by our lab (Dhar et al, 2010b). Moreover, endothelial dysfunction is a hallmark of diabetes (De

Vriese et al, 2000; Potenza et al, 2009). High glucose and hyperglycemia have also been shown to cause endothelial dysfunction (Du et al, 2001; Nishikawa et al, 2000; Potenza et al, 2009; Triggle, 2008). Putting all of these facts together, it is very likely that high glucose and high fructose diet induced increase in aortic and mesenteric vascular bed MG levels mediates endothelial dysfunction and hypertension development that is seen in diabetes. The mesenteric vascular bed is a resistance type vascular bed and is a part of blood pressure regulatory mechanisms. In this scenario, the attenuation of increase in MG levels by L-arginine in these vessels (Figs. 17 and 18) may possibly be benefited by increased NO production by L-arginine in preventing or attenuating high carbohydrate-diet-induced endothelial dysfunction. I did not measure endothelium-dependent relaxation or NO production in my study which can be considered a limitation of my study. Unfortunately, I could not measure GSH levels in the aorta and the mesenteric vascular bed because of a lack of enough tissue.

A high glucose or a high fructose diet did not affect the MG or GSH levels in the skeletal muscle (Fig. 23). The skeletal muscle is an insulin sensitive tissue for glucose uptake and utilization (Koistinen & Zierath, 2002). It is also a major site of insulin resistance that can contribute to hyperglycemia and development of type 2 diabetes mellitus (Koistinen & Zierath, 2002). Our lab has recently shown that acute or chronic treatment of Sprague-Dawley rats with MG causes insulin resistance or development of features of type 2 diabetes (Dhar et al, 2010a; Dhar et al, 2011). My results with the oral GTT did not show impaired glucose tolerance with either high glucose or high fructose diets (Figs. 30 to 34), which agrees with no increase in MG levels or decrease in GSH levels in the skeletal muscle due to a high glucose or high fructose diet. However, one surprising and puzzling finding was that L-arginine alone caused a significant increase in skeletal muscle MG level and a decrease in GSH level. It has been shown that the

action of insulin in regulating skeletal muscle glucose uptake and utilization is partly dependent on NO-NOS pathway (Baron et al, 1995; Bradley et al, 2013), and since L-arginine is a substrate for NOS it can increase NO production, enhance skeletal muscle vasodilation and insulinmediated glucose uptake. It remains to be determined whether L-arginine would influence glucose uptake by the skeletal muscle and thus contribute to increased metabolism and increased MG formation. Further investigation of this interesting fact is required. The decrease in GSH level in the skeletal muscle (Fig. 23) can be expected to contribute to the increase in MG level or *vice versa*.

The adipose tissue is another major insulin sensitive tissue and a site of high carbohydrate diet-induced lipogenesis. A high fructose diet significantly reduced the MG level and increased the GSH level in the adipose tissue (Fig. 24). Excess fructose is known to be lipogenic, especially in the liver (Park et al, 1992; Samuel, 2011). The high fructose as well as high glucose treated rats did not show a significant increase in body weights compared to the control group. The significance of decreased MG in the adipose tissue is difficult to interpret in terms of lipogenesis. However, the increase in adipose tissue GSH level may be an adaptive compensatory response which prevented an increase in MG levels in this tissue. High glucose and L-arginine alone did not affect the adipose tissue MG and GSH levels.

A high fructose diet treated rats had significantly lower MG level whereas a high glucose diet treated rats had significantly higher GSH level, compared to the control group in the small intestine (Fig. 25). The higher GSH level in the high glucose treated rats may have attenuated an increase in MG levels in the small intestine. The functional or metabolic significance of low MG level in the high fructose diet treated rats is difficult to explain without further studies on the absorption and metabolism of these monosaccharides in the intestinal wall. The expression of

glucose and fructose transporters such as sodium-dependent glucose transporters (SGLTs) and glucose transporters (GLUTs), especially GLUT 2 and GLUT 5 (Scheepers et al, 2004), in the small intestine, and the effect of a high fructose and a high glucose diet and MG levels on these transporters needs to be studied.

A high fructose diet significantly increased the MG levels, compared to a high glucose diet, in the lungs and the spleen (Figs. 26 and 27). The GSH levels in these organs were not affected by the high fructose and high glucose diets. The functional significance of the increase in MG levels in these organs in not clear at present.

On the other hand a high glucose diet significantly increased the MG level in the pancreas, compared to a high fructose diet (Fig. 28). Our lab has recently shown the diabetogenic effects of chronic MG treatment in the pancreas of Sprague-Dawley rats (Dhar et al, 2011). L-arginine co-treatment attenuated the increase in pancreatic MG levels caused by high glucose. Surprisingly, L-arginine alone caused a significant increase in pancreatic MG level compared to the control group (Fig. 28). It is not clear if the effect of L-arginine is due to increased glucose uptake and metabolism by the pancreas. I could not measure pancreatic GSH level due to insufficient sample availability. The pancreas has been reported to have low antioxidant capability (Robertson & Harmon, 2007) and our lab has shown reduced GSH levels in the pancreas of chronic MG treated rats (Dhar et al, 2011).

High glucose and high fructose diets did not affect urinary MG levels (Fig. 29). It is possible that only a rapid increase in plasma MG levels increases urinary excretion of free MG as seen in the acute study with intraperitoneal administration of MG in our lab (Dhar et al, 2010a) (Fig. 4).

A high glucose and a high fructose diet for 12 weeks did not impair glucose tolerance as determined by the area under curves for the plasma glucose and insulin levels after an oral GTT

(Fig. 31), It is worth noting that high glucose diet treated rats had significantly lower plasma response at 15 and 30 min following an oral glucose load for the GTT (Fig. 33). This finding can be linked with the higher pancreatic MG level induced by high glucose. The lack of impairment of glucose tolerance in high glucose and high fructose treated rats can be viewed to agree with a lack of significant increase in MG levels in the skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, two major sites of insulin resistance, in these two treatment groups. Although chronic high fructose treatment has been reported to cause insulin resistance (Hwang et al, 1987; Wang et al, 2008), my results did not show any glucose intolerance.

L-arginine alone as well as in combination with a high glucose diet significantly lowered fasting plasma insulin (Figs. 30, 32 and 33). L-arginine alone also significantly decreased the plasma insulin response following an oral GTT (Figs. 30, 32 and 33). This can be explained with the significantly higher pancreatic MG level caused by L-arginine alone (Fig. 28). It is possible that increased pancreatic MG is causing reduced insulin secretion as reported by our lab recently (Dhar et al, 2011).

Conclusions

High fructose and high fructose affect the MG as well as GSH levels differently in different organs possibly due to differences in their metabolism. The liver, adipose tissue and the skeletal muscle are the major organs that metabolize and store or utilize excess carbohydrates in the diet. The liver processes 80% of orally absorbed fructose and about 20% of orally absorbed glucose. An excess of fructose in the diet has also been shown to be harmful for the liver. Our results show a significant increase in MG levels in the liver in high fructose treated rats, but not in high glucose treated rats. The results thus support increased processing of fructose in the liver. Fructose-induced increase in the liver GSH levels might be a compensatory response. The liver has the highest levels of GSH in the body. Glucose and fructose did not increase MG levels in the adipose tissue which might indicate storage of these carbohydrates as lipids rather than being metabolized for energy. The decreased MG in the adipose tissue in the fructose group maybe due to increased GSH levels. Similarly, the increased GSH in the small intestinal wall caused by high glucose diet might be keeping the MG levels within normal limits. The significant increase in plasma MG with high glucose and high fructose diets can be linked with a significant increase in the blood pressure. The significant increase in the aortic and mesenteric artery MG levels by high carbohydrate diets supports our previously demonstrated role of MG in causing endothelial dysfunction and increased blood pressure. The increased plasma cholesterol and triglyceride levels caused by a high fructose diet support conversion of excess fructose into triglycerides and the effect of MG on cholesterol production in the liver (our unpublished results). Also, the MG scavenger L-arginine, was inconsistent in attenuating the effects of high fructose and high glucose diets on different parameters measured. The adequacy of the dose of oral L-arginine was not confirmed with measurement of the plasma levels of L-arginine. Moreover, the oral GTT results were not conclusive, but hinted at impaired glucose tolerance in the high glucose diet group. High fructose is also known to impair glucose tolerance so the GTT needs to be repeated in further studies with high carbohydrate diets, to confirm the observed effects. Further studies to examine organ/tissue MG levels with organ specific functions and pathologies are warranted.

Significance of the study

The significance of the study is partially evident. For example, the increase in aortic and mesenteric vascular bed MG levels strengthens our labs findings that MG induces endothelial

dysfunction and also that high carbohydrate diets, especially hyperglycemia and diabetes cause endothelial dysfunction. High fructose diet treated rats had significantly elevated MG levels and also increased plasma total cholesterol and triglyceride levels which indicate that the harmful effect of high fructose on the liver and its lipogenic effect are most likely mediated by excess production of MG. This knowledge can be used to give appropriate advice about the harmful health effects of high fructose diets and soft drinks, a topic of great interest currently. HFCS is widely used in processed fruits and as believed by scientists, may be largely responsible for the current epidemics of obesity and type 2 diabetes. The significance of my study can be further established with further studies on investigations of the pathological effects of high carbohydrate diets and excess MG on different organs.

Limitations of the study

My study would have greatly benefited from functional studies in different organs which would have enabled me to directly correlate any changes in MG and GSH levels produced by high glucose and fructose diets with their pathological effects in that organ. For example, determination of endothelium dependent relaxation in isolated aortic and mesenteric artery rings would have enabled me to link any endothelial dysfunction with elevated MG levels in these vessels which were observed in my results. Similarly determination of expression of enzymes involved in the hepatic synthesis of cholesterol and triglycerides and very low density lipoprotein assembly would have enabled me to differentiate the effects of high fructose versus high glucose diets on these enzymes and the role of MG in these effects. One of my aims was to see if Larginine was effective in attenuating the harmful effects of high fructose and high glucose diets in different organs. This premise was based on the *in vitro* MG scavenging effect of arginine reported recently by our lab. My results with L-arginine were mixed with attenuation of increase in MG in some organs and failure to attenuate in others. Measurement of plasma and organ/tissue levels of L-arginine would have enabled me to determine the effectiveness and adequacy of oral dose of L-arginine used in this study and its effective distribution in different organs after absorption. In this regard I should mention that our lab is developing a project to study the detailed pharmacokinetics of arginine. Lack of availability of samples of certain organs, such as the aorta and pancreas also prevented me from measuring the GSH levels in these tissues. Despite these limitations, I was able to generate some interesting data and gain very useful and extremely satisfying research experience from my study.

References

Akhand AA, Hossain K, Mitsui H, Kato M, Miyata T, Inagi R, Du J, Takeda K, Kawamoto Y, Suzuki H, Kurokawa K, Nakashima I (2001) Glyoxal and methylglyoxal trigger distinct signals for map family kinases and caspase activation in human endothelial cells. *Free Rad Biol Med* **31**: 20-30.

Alvares TS, Meirelles CM, Bhambhani YN, Paschoalin VM, Gomes PS (2011) L-Arginine as a potential ergogenic aid in healthy subjects. *Sports Med* **41**: 233-248.

Aruoma OI, Halliwell B, Hoey BM, Butler J (1989) The antioxidant action of N-acetylcysteine: its reaction with hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, superoxide, and hypochlorous acid. *Free Rad Biol Med* **6**: 593-597.

Bailey SJ, Winyard PG, Vanhatalo A, Blackwell JR, DiMenna FJ, Wilkerson DP, Jones AM (2010) Acute L-arginine supplementation reduces the O2 cost of moderate-intensity exercise and enhances high-intensity exercise tolerance. *J Appl Physiol* **109**: 1394-1403.

Baron AD, Steinberg HO, Chaker H, Leaming R, Johnson A, Brechtel G (1995) Insulinmediated skeletal muscle vasodilation contributes to both insulin sensitivity and responsiveness in lean humans. *J Clin Invest* **96:** 786-792.

Baskaran S, Balasubramanian KA (1990) Effect of methylglyoxal on protein thiol and amino groups in isolated rat enterocytes and colonocytes and activity of various brush border enzymes. *Indian J Biochem Biophys* **27:** 13-17.

Baynes JW (2001) The role of AGEs in aging: causation or correlation. *Exptl Gerontol* **36:** 1527-1537.

Beard KM, Shangari N, Wu B, O'Brien PJ (2003) Metabolism, not autoxidation, plays a role in alpha-oxoaldehyde- and reducing sugar-induced erythrocyte GSH depletion: relevance for diabetes mellitus. *Mol Cell Biochem* **252**: 331-338.

Beisswenger PJ, Howell SK, Nelson RG, Mauer M, Szwergold BS (2003) Alpha-oxoaldehyde metabolism and diabetic complications. *Biochem Soc Trans* **31:** 1358-1363.

Beisswenger PJ, Howell SK, Touchette AD, Lal S, Szwergold BS (1999) Metformin reduces systemic methylglyoxal levels in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* **48**: 198-202.

Berkowitz DE, White R, Li D, Minhas KM, Cernetich A, Kim S, Burke S, Shoukas AA, Nyhan D, Champion HC, Hare JM (2003) Arginase reciprocally regulates nitric oxide synthase activity and contributes to endothelial dysfunction in aging blood vessels. *Circulation* **108**: 2000-2006.

Bierhaus A, Chevion S, Chevion M, Hofmann M, Quehenberger P, Illmer T, Luther T, Berentshtein E, Tritschler H, Muller M, Wahl P, Ziegler R, Nawroth PP (1997) Advanced glycation end product-induced activation of NF-kappaB is suppressed by alpha-lipoic acid in cultured endothelial cells. *Diabetes* **46**: 1481-1490.

Blakytny R, Harding JJ (1992) Glycation (non-enzymic glycosylation) inactivates glutathione reductase. *Biochem J* **288** (**Pt 1**): 303-307.

Bode L (2009) Human milk oligosaccharides: prebiotics and beyond. *Nutr Rev* **67 Suppl 2:** S183-191.

Bortolotto LA (2007) [Modifications of structural and functional properties of large arteries in diabetes mellitus]. *Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol* **51:** 176-184.

Bourajjaj M, Stehouwer CD, van Hinsbergh VW, Schalkwijk CG (2003) Role of methylglyoxal adducts in the development of vascular complications in diabetes mellitus. *Biochem Soc Transac* **31:** 1400-1402.

86

Bradley EA, Richards SM, Keske MA, Rattigan S (2013) Local NOS inhibition impairs vascular and metabolic actions of insulin in rat hindleg muscle in vivo. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **305:** E745-750.

Bray GA, Nielsen SJ, Popkin BM (2004) Consumption of high-fructose corn syrup in beverages may play a role in the epidemic of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr* **79:** 537-543.

Bremer H (ed) (1981) *Glutathione. In: Disturbances of Amino Acid Metabolism: Clinical Chemistry and Diagnosis:* Urban & Schwarzenberg, 80-82pp.

Bucala R, Cerami A (1992) Advanced glycosylation: chemistry, biology, and implications for diabetes and aging. *Adv Pharmacol* 23: 1-34.

Bucala R, Makita Z, Koschinsky T, Cerami A, Vlassara H (1993) Lipid advanced glycosylation: pathway for lipid oxidation in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA* **90:** 6434-6438.

Bucala R, Vlassara H (1995) Advanced glycosylation end products in diabetic renal and vascular disease. *Am J Kidney Dis* **26:** 875-888.

Canadian-Diabetes-Association. (2008) Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Diabetes in Canada. *Canadian Diabetes Association*, Vol. 2014. Available on-line at: http://archive.diabetes.ca/files/cpg2008/cpg-2008.pdf. Accessed on: June 27, 2014.

Carvalho VF, Florim LT, de OBE, Torres RC, Batista MM, Amendoeira FC, Cordeiro RS, Martins MA, PM ES (2011) Inhibition of advanced glycation end products by aminoguanidine restores mast cell numbers and reactivity in alloxan-diabetic rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* **669**: 143-148.

Casazza JP, Felver ME, Veech RL (1984) The metabolism of acetone in rat. *J Biol Chem* **259**: 231-236.

Chait A, Brazg RL, Tribble DL, Krauss RM (1993) Susceptibility of small, dense, low-density lipoproteins to oxidative modification in subjects with the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype, pattern B. *Am J Med* **94:** 350-356.

Chang T, Wang R, Wu L (2005) Methylglyoxal-induced nitric oxide and peroxynitrite production in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Free Rad Biol Med* **38**: 286-293.

Chang T, Wu L (2006) Methylglyoxal, oxidative stress, and hypertension. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 84: 1229-1238.

Chaplen FW, Fahl WE, Cameron DC (1996) Method for determination of free intracellular and extracellular methylglyoxal in animal cells grown in culture. *Anal Biochem* **238**: 171-178.

Chaplen FW, Fahl WE, Cameron DC (1998) Evidence of high levels of methylglyoxal in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA* **95:** 5533-5538.

Chawla RK, Lewis FW, Kutner MH, Bate DM, Roy RG, Rudman D (1984) Plasma cysteine, cystine, and glutathione in cirrhosis. *Gastroenterol* **87:** 770-776.

Che W, Asahi M, Takahashi M, Kaneto H, Okado A, Higashiyama S, Taniguchi N (1997) Selective induction of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor by methylglyoxal and 3-deoxyglucosone in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. The involvement of reactive oxygen species formation and a possible implication for atherogenesis in diabetes. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 18453-18459.

Chen L, Caballero B, Mitchell DC, Loria C, Lin PH, Champagne CM, Elmer PJ, Ard JD, Batch BC, Anderson CA, Appel LJ (2010) Reducing consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages is associated with reduced blood pressure: a prospective study among United States adults. *Circulation* **121**: 2398-2406.

88

Chen X, Walker DG, Schmidt AM, Arancio O, Lue LF, Yan SD (2007) RAGE: a potential target for Abeta-mediated cellular perturbation in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Mol Med* **7**: 735-742.

Choudhary D, Chandra D, Kale RK (1997) Influence of methylglyoxal on antioxidant enzymes and oxidative damage. *Toxicol Letts* **93:** 141-152.

Clarkson P, Adams MR, Powe AJ, Donald AE, McCredie R, Robinson J, McCarthy SN, Keech A, Celermajer DS, Deanfield JE (1996) Oral L-arginine improves endothelium-dependent dilation in hypercholesterolemic young adults. *J Clin Invest* **97**: 1989-1994.

Coman D, Yaplito-Lee J, Boneh A (2008) New indications and controversies in arginine therapy. *Clin Nutr* **27:** 489-496.

Creager MA, Gallagher SJ, Girerd XJ, Coleman SM, Dzau VJ, Cooke JP (1992) L-arginine improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in hypercholesterolemic humans. *J Clin Invest* **90**: 1248-1253.

Czech MP (1995) Molecular actions of insulin on glucose transport. *Annu Rev Nutr* **15:** 441-471 Danpure CJ (2004) Molecular actiology of primary hyperoxaluria type 1. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* **98:** e39-44.

de Moura RF, Ribeiro C, de Oliveira JA, Stevanato E, de Mello MA (2009) Metabolic syndrome signs in Wistar rats submitted to different high-fructose ingestion protocols. *Br J Nutr* **101**: 1178-1184.

De Vriese AS, Verbeuren TJ, Van de Voorde J, Lameire NH, Vanhoutte PM (2000) Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. *Br J Pharmacol* **130**: 963-974.

Dekhuijzen PN (2004) Antioxidant properties of N-acetylcysteine: their relevance in relation to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J* 23: 629-636.

89

Desai K, Wu L (2007) Methylglyoxal and advanced glycation endproducts: new therapeutic horizons? *Rec Pat Cardiovas Drug Dis* **2**: 89-99.

Desai KM, Chang T, Wang H, Banigesh A, Dhar A, Liu J, Untereiner A, Wu L (2010) Oxidative stress and aging: is methylglyoxal the hidden enemy? *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **88**: 273-284.

Desai KM, Gopalakrishnan V, Hiebert LM, McNeill JR, Wilson TW (2006) EDHF-mediated rapid restoration of hypotensive response to acetylcholine after chronic, but not acute, nitric oxide synthase inhibition in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* **546**: 120-126.

Desai KM, Wu L (2008) Free radical generation by methylglyoxal in tissues. *Drug Metabol Drug Interac* 23: 151-173.

Dhar A, Desai K, Kazachmov M, Yu P, Wu L (2008) Methylglyoxal production in vascular smooth muscle cells from different metabolic precursors. *Metabolism: Clin Exptl* **57:** 1211-1220.

Dhar A, Desai K, Liu J, Wu L (2009) Methylglyoxal, protein binding and biological samples: are we getting the true measure? *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci* **877:** 1093-1100.

Dhar A, Desai KM, Wu L (2010a) Alagebrium attenuates acute methylglyoxal-induced glucose intolerance in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **159**: 166-175.

Dhar A, Dhar I, Desai KM, Wu L (2010b) Methylglyoxal scavengers attenuate endothelial dysfunction induced by methylglyoxal and high concentrations of glucose. *Br J Pharmacol* **161**: 1843-1856.

Dhar A, Dhar I, Jiang B, Desai KM, Wu L (2011) Chronic methylglyoxal infusion by minipump causes pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction and induces type 2 diabetes in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Diabetes* **60**: 899-908.
Dhar I, Dhar A, Wu L, Desai K (2012) Arginine attenuates methylglyoxal- and high glucoseinduced endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress by an endothelial nitric-oxide synthaseindependent mechanism. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **342**: 196-204.

Dhar I, Dhar A, Wu L, Desai KM (2013) Increased methylglyoxal formation with upregulation of renin angiotensin system in fructose fed Sprague Dawley rats. *PLoS One* **8:** e74212.

Dhar I, Dhar A, Wu L, Desai KM (2014) Methylglyoxal, a reactive glucose metabolite, increases Renin Angiotensin aldosterone and blood pressure in male sprague-dawley rats. *Am J Hypertens* **27:** 308-316.

Diabetes-in-Canada (2011) Diabetes in Canada: Facts and figures from a public health perspective: Chapter 6 – Diabetes among First Nations, Inuit, and Métis populations. Available on-line at: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/cd-mc/publications/diabetes-diabete/facts-figures-faits-chiffres-2011/pdf/facts-figures-faits-chiffres-eng.pdf. Accessed on: June 27, 2014.

Dong JY, Qin LQ, Zhang Z, Zhao Y, Wang J, Arigoni F, Zhang W (2011) Effect of oral Larginine supplementation on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *Am Heart J* **162**: 959-965.

Du XL, Edelstein D, Dimmeler S, Ju Q, Sui C, Brownlee M (2001) Hyperglycemia inhibits endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by posttranslational modification at the Akt site. *J Clin Invest* **108**: 1341-1348.

Escobales N, Crespo MJ (2005) Oxidative-nitrosative stress in hypertension. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* **3:** 231-246.

Espinosa-Mansilla A, Duran-Meras I, Canada FC, Marquez MP (2007) High-performance liquid chromatographic determination of glyoxal and methylglyoxal in urine by prederivatization to

lumazinic rings using in serial fast scan fluorimetric and diode array detectors. *Anal Biochem* **371:** 82-91.

Espinosa-Mansilla A, Duran-Meras I, Salinas F (1998) High-performance liquid chromatographic-fluorometric determination of glyoxal, methylglyoxal, and diacetyl in urine by prederivatization to pteridinic rings. *Anal Biochem* **255**: 263-273.

Faeh D, Minehira K, Schwarz JM, Periasamy R, Park S, Tappy L (2005) Effect of fructose overfeeding and fish oil administration on hepatic de novo lipogenesis and insulin sensitivity in healthy men. *Diabetes* **54**: 1907-1913.

Flitsch SL, Ulijn RV (2003) Sugars tied to the spot. Nature 421: 219-220.

Forbes JM, Cooper ME (2013) Mechanisms of diabetic complications. *Physiol Rev* 93: 137-188.

Furihata C, Sato Y, Matsushima T, Tatematsu M (1985) Induction of ornithine decarboxylase

and DNA synthesis in rat stomach mucosa by methylglyoxal. Carcinogenesis 6: 91-94.

Gaby AR (2005) Adverse effects of dietary fructose. Altern Med Rev 10: 294-306.

Galipeau D, Arikawa E, Sekirov I, McNeill JH (2001) Chronic thromboxane synthase inhibition prevents fructose-induced hypertension. *Hypertension* **38**: 872-876.

Goh SY, Cooper ME (2008) Clinical review: The role of advanced glycation end products in progression and complications of diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **93**: 1143-1152.

Goldin A, Beckman JA, Schmidt AM, Creager MA (2006) Advanced glycation end products: sparking the development of diabetic vascular injury. *Circulation* **114**: 597-605.

Golej J, Hoeger H, Radner W, Unfried G, Lubec G (1998) Oral administration of methylglyoxal leads to kidney collagen accumulation in the mouse. *Life Sci* **63**: 801-807.

Haik GM, Jr., Lo TW, Thornalley PJ (1994) Methylglyoxal concentration and glyoxalase activities in the human lens. *Exp Eye Res* **59**: 497-500.

Hammes HP, Alt A, Niwa T, Clausen JT, Bretzel RG, Brownlee M, Schleicher ED (1999) Differential accumulation of advanced glycation end products in the course of diabetic retinopathy. *Diabetologia* **42**: 728-736.

Havel PJ (2005) Dietary fructose: implications for dysregulation of energy homeostasis and lipid/carbohydrate metabolism. *Nutr Rev* **63**: 133-157.

He CJ, Koschinsky T, Buenting C, Vlassara H (2001) Presence of diabetic complications in type 1 diabetic patients correlates with low expression of mononuclear cell AGE-receptor-1 and elevated serum AGE. *Mol Med* **7**: 159-168.

Ho C, Lee PH, Huang WJ, Hsu YC, Lin CL, Wang JY (2007) Methylglyoxal-induced fibronectin gene expression through Ras-mediated NADPH oxidase activation in renal mesangial cells. *Nephrology (Carlton, Vic)* **12:** 348-356.

Huang Q (2011) A study of the mechanisms of methylglyoxal-induced changes in plasma lipid levels in Sprague-Dawley rats. M.Sc. Thesis, Pharmacology, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon. Available on-line at: http://hdl.handle.net/10388/ETD-2011-10-186. Accessed on: June 27, 2014.

Huijberts MS, Schaper NC, Schalkwijk CG (2008) Advanced glycation end products and diabetic foot disease. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* **24 Suppl 1:** S19-24.

Hwang IS, Ho H, Hoffman BB, Reaven GM (1987) Fructose-induced insulin resistance and hypertension in rats. *Hypertension* **10**: 512-516.

International-Diabetes-Federation. (2012) International Diabetes Federation: IDF Diabetes Atlas 5th Edition, Available on-line at: <u>http://www.idf.org/sites/default/files/5E_IDFAtlasPoster_2012_EN.pdf</u>. Accessed on: June 27, 2014.

Irani K (2000) Oxidant signaling in vascular cell growth, death, and survival : a review of the roles of reactive oxygen species in smooth muscle and endothelial cell mitogenic and apoptotic signaling. *Circ Res* **87:** 179-183.

Jalal DI, Smits G, Johnson RJ, Chonchol M (2010) Increased fructose associates with elevated blood pressure. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **21**: 1543-1549.

Jia X, Wu L (2007) Accumulation of endogenous methylglyoxal impaired insulin signaling in adipose tissue of fructose-fed rats. *Mol Cell Biochem* **306**: 133-139.

Johnson RJ, Perez-Pozo SE, Sautin YY, Manitius J, Sanchez-Lozada LG, Feig DI, Shafiu M, Segal M, Glassock RJ, Shimada M, Roncal C, Nakagawa T (2009) Hypothesis: could excessive fructose intake and uric acid cause type 2 diabetes? *Endocr Rev* **30**: 96-116.

Johnson RJ, Segal MS, Sautin Y, Nakagawa T, Feig DI, Kang DH, Gersch MS, Benner S, Sanchez-Lozada LG (2007) Potential role of sugar (fructose) in the epidemic of hypertension, obesity and the metabolic syndrome, diabetes, kidney disease, and cardiovascular disease. *Am J Clin Nutr* **86:** 899-906.

Kalapos MP (1999) Methylglyoxal in living organisms: chemistry, biochemistry, toxicology and biological implications. *Toxicol Letts* **110**: 145-175.

Kalapos MP, Garzo T, Antoni F, Mandl J (1991a) Effect of methylglyoxal on glucose formation, drug oxidation and glutathione content in isolated murine hepatocytes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1092**: 284-290.

Kalapos MP, Schaff Z, Garzo T, Antoni F, Mandl J (1991b) Accumulation of phenols in isolated hepatocytes after pretreatment with methylglyoxal. *Toxicol Letts* **58**: 181-191.

Kamencic H, Lyon A, Paterson PG, Juurlink BH (2000) Monochlorobimane fluorometric method to measure tissue glutathione. *Anal Biochem* **286**: 35-37.

Kandhro AJ, Mirza MA, Khuhawar MY (2008) Capillary gas chromatographic determination of methylglyoxal from serum of diabetic patients by precolumn derivatization using meso-stilbenediamine as derivatizing reagent. *J Chromatogr Sci* **46**: 539-543.

Kass DA, Shapiro EP, Kawaguchi M, Capriotti AR, Scuteri A, deGroof RC, Lakatta EG (2001) Improved arterial compliance by a novel advanced glycation end-product crosslink breaker. *Circulation* **104**: 1464-1470.

Kaufman LN, Peterson MM, Smith SM (1991) Hypertension and sympathetic hyperactivity induced in rats by high-fat or glucose diets. *Am J Physiol* **260**: E95-100.

Kikuchi S, Shinpo K, Moriwaka F, Makita Z, Miyata T, Tashiro K (1999) Neurotoxicity of methylglyoxal and 3-deoxyglucosone on cultured cortical neurons: synergism between glycation and oxidative stress, possibly involved in neurodegenerative diseases. *J Neurosci Res* **57**: 280-289.

Kikuchi S, Shinpo K, Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S, Makita Z, Sasaki N, Tashiro K (2003) Glycation--a sweet tempter for neuronal death. *Brain Res Rev* **41**: 306-323.

Klopfer A, Spanneberg R, Glomb MA (2011) Formation of arginine modifications in a model system of Nalpha-tert-butoxycarbonyl (Boc)-arginine with methylglyoxal. *J Agric Food Chem* **59:** 394-401.

Kodama S, Saito K, Tanaka S, Maki M, Yachi Y, Sato M, Sugawara A, Totsuka K, Shimano H, Ohashi Y, Yamada N, Sone H (2009) Influence of fat and carbohydrate proportions on the metabolic profile in patients with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes care* **32**: 959-965.

Koga Y, Akita Y, Junko N, Yatsuga S, Povalko N, Fukiyama R, Ishii M, Matsuishi T (2006) Endothelial dysfunction in MELAS improved by l-arginine supplementation. *Neurol* **66:** 1766-1769.

Koistinen HA, Zierath JR (2002) Regulation of glucose transport in human skeletal muscle. *Ann Med* **34:** 410-418.

LabDiet.com. (2013) LabDiet. Normal rat chow - Prolab RMH 3000. Available on-line at: http://www.labdiet.com/cs/groups/lolweb/@labdiet/documents/web_content/mdrf/mdi4/~edisp/d ucm04_028406.pdf. Accessed on: June 27, 2014.

Laight DW, Desai KM, Gopaul NK, Anggard EE, Carrier MJ (1999) Pro-oxidant challenge in vivo provokes the onset of NIDDM in the insulin resistant obese Zucker rat. *Br J Pharmacol* **128:** 269-271.

Lee CW, Li D, Channon KM, Paterson DJ (2009) L-arginine supplementation reduces cardiac noradrenergic neurotransmission in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **47:** 149-155.

Leuner B, Max M, Thamm K, Kausler C, Yakobus Y, Bierhaus A, Sel S, Hofmann B, Silber RE, Simm A, Nass N (2012) RAGE influences obesity in mice. Effects of the presence of RAGE on weight gain, AGE accumulation, and insulin levels in mice on a high fat diet. *Z Gerontol Geriatr* **45:** 102-108.

Li YM, Steffes M, Donnelly T, Liu C, Fuh H, Basgen J, Bucala R, Vlassara H (1996) Prevention of cardiovascular and renal pathology of aging by the advanced glycation inhibitor aminoguanidine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA* **93:** 3902-3907.

Lo TW, Westwood ME, McLellan AC, Selwood T, Thornalley PJ (1994) Binding and modification of proteins by methylglyoxal under physiological conditions. A kinetic and mechanistic study with N alpha-acetylarginine, N alpha-acetylcysteine, and N alpha-acetyllysine, and bovine serum albumin. *J Biol Chem* **269**: 32299-32305.

Lodge-Ivey SL, May T, Petersen MK, Strickland JR (2004) Determination of methylglyoxal in ruminal fluid by high-performance liquid chromatography using fluorometric detection. *J Agric Food Chem* **52:** 6875-6878.

Lu J, Randell E, Han Y, Adeli K, Krahn J, Meng QH (2011) Increased plasma methylglyoxal level, inflammation, and vascular endothelial dysfunction in diabetic nephropathy. *Clin Biochem* **44:** 307-311.

Madero M, Arriaga JC, Jalal D, Rivard C, McFann K, Perez-Mendez O, Vazquez A, Ruiz A, Lanaspa MA, Jimenez CR, Johnson RJ, Lozada LG (2011a) The effect of two energy-restricted diets, a low-fructose diet versus a moderate natural fructose diet, on weight loss and metabolic syndrome parameters: a randomized controlled trial. *Metabolism* **60**: 1551-1559.

Madero M, Perez-Pozo SE, Jalal D, Johnson RJ, Sanchez-Lozada LG (2011b) Dietary fructose and hypertension. *Curr Hypertens Rep* **13**: 29-35.

Makita Z, Bucala R, Rayfield EJ, Friedman EA, Kaufman AM, Korbet SM, Barth RH, Winston JA, Fuh H, Manogue KR, et al. (1994) Reactive glycosylation endproducts in diabetic uraemia and treatment of renal failure. *Lancet* **343**: 1519-1522.

Matafome P, Santos-Silva D, Crisostomo J, Rodrigues T, Rodrigues L, Sena CM, Pereira P, Seica R (2012) Methylglyoxal causes structural and functional alterations in adipose tissue independently of obesity. *Arch Physiol Biochem* **118**: 58-68.

Matafome P, Sena C, Seica R (2013) Methylglyoxal, obesity, and diabetes. *Endocrine* **43**: 472-484.

Matsuoka H, Nakata M, Kohno K, Koga Y, Nomura G, Toshima H, Imaizumi T (1996) Chronic L-arginine administration attenuates cardiac hypertrophy in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* **27**: 14-18.

Mayes PA (1993) Intermediary metabolism of fructose. Am J Clin Nutr 58: 754S-765S.

McLellan AC, Thornalley PJ, Benn J, Sonksen PH (1994) Glyoxalase system in clinical diabetes mellitus and correlation with diabetic complications. *Clin Sci (London, England : 1979)* **87:** 21-29.

McRobert EA, Gallicchio M, Jerums G, Cooper ME, Bach LA (2003) The amino-terminal domains of the ezrin, radixin, and moesin (ERM) proteins bind advanced glycation end products, an interaction that may play a role in the development of diabetic complications. *J Biol Chem* **278:** 25783-25789.

Misko TP, Moore WM, Kasten TP, Nickols GA, Corbett JA, Tilton RG, McDaniel ML, Williamson JR, Currie MG (1993) Selective inhibition of the inducible nitric oxide synthase by aminoguanidine. *Eur J Pharmacol* **233**: 119-125.

Nasiri R, Field MJ, Zahedi M, Moosavi-Movahedi AA (2011) Cross-linking mechanisms of arginine and lysine with alpha, beta-dicarbonyl compounds in aqueous solution. *J Phys Chem A* **115:** 13542-13555.

Negre-Salvayre A, Salvayre R, Auge N, Pamplona R, Portero-Otin M (2009) Hyperglycemia and glycation in diabetic complications. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **11**: 3071-3109.

Nemet I, Turk Z, Duvnjak L, Car N, Varga-Defterdarovic L (2005) Humoral methylglyoxal level reflects glycemic fluctuation. *Clin Biochem* **38:** 379-383.

Nemet I, Varga-Defterdarovic L, Turk Z (2004) Preparation and quantification of methylglyoxal in human plasma using reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. *Clin Biochem* **37:** 875-881.

Nishikawa T, Edelstein D, Du XL, Yamagishi S, Matsumura T, Kaneda Y, Yorek MA, Beebe D, Oates PJ, Hammes HP, Giardino I, Brownlee M (2000) Normalizing mitochondrial superoxide production blocks three pathways of hyperglycaemic damage. *Nature* **404**: 787-790.

Oudot C, Lajoix AD, Jover B, Rugale C (2013) Dietary sodium restriction prevents kidney damage in high fructose-fed rats. *Kidney Int* **83:** 674-683.

Ouyang X, Cirillo P, Sautin Y, McCall S, Bruchette JL, Diehl AM, Johnson RJ, Abdelmalek MF (2008) Fructose consumption as a risk factor for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol* **48**: 993-999.

Pacher P, Beckman JS, Liaudet L (2007) Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and disease. *Physiol Rev* 87: 315-424.

Paget C, Lecomte M, Ruggiero D, Wiernsperger N, Lagarde M (1998) Modification of enzymatic antioxidants in retinal microvascular cells by glucose or advanced glycation end products. *Free Rad Biol Med* **25:** 121-129.

Palmer RM, Ashton DS, Moncada S (1988) Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. *Nature* **333**: 664-666.

Park OJ, Cesar D, Faix D, Wu K, Shackleton CH, Hellerstein MK (1992) Mechanisms of fructose-induced hypertriglyceridaemia in the rat. Activation of hepatic pyruvate dehydrogenase through inhibition of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase. *Biochem J* **282** (**Pt 3**): 753-757.

Park YS, Koh YH, Takahashi M, Miyamoto Y, Suzuki K, Dohmae N, Takio K, Honke K, Taniguchi N (2003) Identification of the binding site of methylglyoxal on glutathione peroxidase: methylglyoxal inhibits glutathione peroxidase activity via binding to glutathione binding sites Arg 184 and 185. *Free Rad Res* **37**: 205-211.

Perez-Pozo SE, Schold J, Nakagawa T, Sanchez-Lozada LG, Johnson RJ, Lillo JL (2010) Excessive fructose intake induces the features of metabolic syndrome in healthy adult men: role of uric acid in the hypertensive response. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **34:** 454-461.

Phillips SA, Thornalley PJ (1993) The formation of methylglyoxal from triose phosphates. Investigation using a specific assay for methylglyoxal. *Eur J Biochem / FEBS* **212:** 101-105.

Potenza MA, Gagliardi S, Nacci C, Carratu MR, Montagnani M (2009) Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes: from mechanisms to therapeutic targets. *Curr Med Chem* **16**: 94-112.

Rahbar S, Natarajan R, Yerneni K, Scott S, Gonzales N, Nadler JL (2000) Evidence that pioglitazone, metformin and pentoxifylline are inhibitors of glycation. *Clin Chim Acta; Intnl J Clin Chem* **301:** 65-77.

Randell EW, Vasdev S, Gill V (2005) Measurement of methylglyoxal in rat tissues by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methd* **51**: 153-157.

Reddy S, Bichler J, Wells-Knecht KJ, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (1995) N epsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine is a dominant advanced glycation end product (AGE) antigen in tissue proteins. *Biochemistry (John Wiley & Sons)* **34:** 10872-10878.

Riboulet-Chavey A, Pierron A, Durand I, Murdaca J, Giudicelli J, Van Obberghen E (2006) Methylglyoxal impairs the insulin signaling pathways independently of the formation of intracellular reactive oxygen species. *Diabetes* **55**: 1289-1299.

Robertson RP, Harmon JS (2007) Pancreatic islet beta-cell and oxidative stress: the importance of glutathione peroxidase. *FEBS Letts* **581**: 3743-3748.

Rosca MG, Monnier VM, Szweda LI, Weiss MF (2002) Alterations in renal mitochondrial respiration in response to the reactive oxoaldehyde methylglyoxal. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **283:** F52-59.

Rosca MG, Mustata TG, Kinter MT, Ozdemir AM, Kern TS, Szweda LI, Brownlee M, Monnier VM, Weiss MF (2005) Glycation of mitochondrial proteins from diabetic rat kidney is associated with excess superoxide formation. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol* **289:** F420-430.

Rutledge AC, Adeli K (2007) Fructose and the metabolic syndrome: pathophysiology and molecular mechanisms. *Nutr Rev* **65**: S13-23.

Samuel VT (2011) Fructose induced lipogenesis: from sugar to fat to insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* **22:** 60-65.

Sanchez-Lozada LG, Mu W, Roncal C, Sautin YY, Abdelmalek M, Reungjui S, Le M, Nakagawa T, Lan HY, Yu X, Johnson RJ (2010) Comparison of free fructose and glucose to sucrose in the ability to cause fatty liver. *Eur J Nutr* **49**: 1-9.

Scheepers A, Joost HG, Schurmann A (2004) The glucose transporter families SGLT and GLUT: molecular basis of normal and aberrant function. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* **28**: 364-371.

Schiekofer S, Andrassy M, Chen J, Rudofsky G, Schneider J, Wendt T, Stefan N, Humpert P, Fritsche A, Stumvoll M, Schleicher E, Haring HU, Nawroth PP, Bierhaus A (2003) Acute hyperglycemia causes intracellular formation of CML and activation of ras, p42/44 MAPK, and nuclear factor kappaB in PBMCs. *Diabetes* **52**: 621-633.

Schmidt AM, Yan SD, Wautier JL, Stern D (1999) Activation of receptor for advanced glycation end products: a mechanism for chronic vascular dysfunction in diabetic vasculopathy and atherosclerosis. *Circ Res* **84:** 489-497.

Shibamoto T (2006) Analytical methods for trace levels of reactive carbonyl compounds formed in lipid peroxidation systems. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* **41:** 12-25.

Shinpo K, Kikuchi S, Sasaki H, Ogata A, Moriwaka F, Tashiro K (2000) Selective vulnerability of spinal motor neurons to reactive dicarbonyl compounds, intermediate products of glycation, in vitro: implication of inefficient glutathione system in spinal motor neurons. *Brain Res* **861:** 151-159.

Shipanova IN, Glomb MA, Nagaraj RH (1997) Protein modification by methylglyoxal: chemical nature and synthetic mechanism of a major fluorescent adduct. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **344**: 29-36.

Sima AV, Stancu CS, Simionescu M (2009) Vascular endothelium in atherosclerosis. *Cell Tissue Res* **335:** 191-203.

Singh AK, Amlal H, Haas PJ, Dringenberg U, Fussell S, Barone SL, Engelhardt R, Zuo J, Seidler U, Soleimani M (2008) Fructose-induced hypertension: essential role of chloride and fructose absorbing transporters PAT1 and Glut5. *Kidney Int* **74**: 438-447.

Soulis-Liparota T, Cooper ME, Dunlop M, Jerums G (1995) The relative roles of advanced glycation, oxidation and aldose reductase inhibition in the development of experimental diabetic nephropathy in the Sprague-Dawley rat. *Diabetologia* **38**: 387-394.

Sousa Silva M, Gomes RA, Ferreira AE, Ponces Freire A, Cordeiro C (2013) The glyoxalase pathway: the first hundred years... and beyond. *Biochem J* **453**: 1-15.

Srinivasan M, Mitrani P, Sadhanandan G, Dodds C, Shbeir-ElDika S, Thamotharan S, Ghanim H, Dandona P, Devaskar SU, Patel MS (2008) A high-carbohydrate diet in the immediate postnatal life of rats induces adaptations predisposing to adult-onset obesity. *J Endocrinol* **197**: 565-574.

Sugimoto K, Yasujima M, Yagihashi S (2008) Role of advanced glycation end products in diabetic neuropathy. *Curr Pharm Des* **14**: 953-961.

Szabo C, Ferrer-Sueta G, Zingarelli B, Southan GJ, Salzman AL, Radi R (1997) Mercaptoethylguanidine and guanidine inhibitors of nitric-oxide synthase react with peroxynitrite and protect against peroxynitrite-induced oxidative damage. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 9030-9036.

Takahashi K (1977) The reactions of phenylglyoxal and related reagents with amino acids. *J Biochem* **81:** 395-402.

Takahashi M, Okamiya H, Furukawa F, Toyoda K, Sato H, Imaida K, Hayashi Y (1989) Effects of glyoxal and methylglyoxal administration on gastric carcinogenesis in Wistar rats after initiation with N-methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine. *Carcinogenesis* **10**: 1925-1927.

Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S (2008) Possible involvement of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Pharm Des* **14:** 973-978.

Tames FJ, Mackness MI, Arrol S, Laing I, Durrington PN (1992) Non-enzymatic glycation of apolipoprotein B in the sera of diabetic and non-diabetic subjects. *Atherosclerosis* **93**: 237-244.

Tanaka Y, Uchino H, Shimizu T, Yoshii H, Niwa M, Ohmura C, Mitsuhashi N, Onuma T, Kawamori R (1999) Effect of metformin on advanced glycation endproduct formation and peripheral nerve function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* **376:** 17-22.

Thornalley PJ (1993) The glyoxalase system in health and disease. Mol Asp Med 14: 287-371.

Thornalley PJ (1996) Pharmacology of methylglyoxal: formation, modification of proteins and nucleic acids, and enzymatic detoxification--a role in pathogenesis and antiproliferative chemotherapy. *Gen Pharmacol* **27**: 565-573.

Thornalley PJ (1998) Glutathione-dependent detoxification of alpha-oxoaldehydes by the glyoxalase system: involvement in disease mechanisms and antiproliferative activity of glyoxalase I inhibitors. *Chem Biol Interact* **111-112**: 137-151.

Thornalley PJ (2003) Use of aminoguanidine (Pimagedine) to prevent the formation of advanced glycation endproducts. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **419**: 31-40.

Thorne-Research-Inc. (2001) Glutathione, reduced (GSH). Monograph. *Altern Med Rev* 6: 601-607.

Tobey TA, Mondon CE, Zavaroni I, Reaven GM (1982) Mechanism of insulin resistance in fructose-fed rats. *Metabolism* **31:** 608-612.

Triggle CR (2008) The early effects of elevated glucose on endothelial function as a target in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Timely Topics in Med Cardiovas Dis* **12:** E3.

Turk Z, Cavlovic-Naglic M, Turk N (2011) Relationship of methylglyoxal-adduct biogenesis to LDL and triglyceride levels in diabetics. *Life Sci* **89:** 485-490.

Vander Jagt DL, Hunsaker LA (2003) Methylglyoxal metabolism and diabetic complications: roles of aldose reductase, glyoxalase-I, betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase and 2-oxoaldehyde dehydrogenase. *Chemico-Biol Interac* **143-144:** 341-351.

Vasdev S, Ford CA, Longerich L, Parai S, Gadag V, Wadhawan S (1998) Aldehyde induced hypertension in rats: prevention by N-acetyl cysteine. *Artery* **23**: 10-36.

Vasdev S, Stuckless J (2010) Role of methylglyoxal in essential hypertension. *Int J Angiol* **19**: e58-65.

Vistoli G, De Maddis D, Cipak A, Zarkovic N, Carini M, Aldini G (2013) Advanced glycoxidation and lipoxidation end products (AGEs and ALEs): an overview of their mechanisms of formation. *Free Radic Res* **47 Suppl 1:** 3-27.

Vos MB, Kimmons JE, Gillespie C, Welsh J, Blanck HM (2008) Dietary fructose consumption among US children and adults: the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Medscape J Med* **10**: 160.

Wang X, Chang T, Jiang B, Desai K, Wu L (2007) Attenuation of hypertension development by aminoguanidine in spontaneously hypertensive rats: role of methylglyoxal. *Am J Hypertens* **20**: 629-636.

Wang X, Jia X, Chang T, Desai K, Wu L (2008) Attenuation of hypertension development by scavenging methylglyoxal in fructose-treated rats. *J Hypertens* **26**: 765-772.

Wautier JL, Schmidt AM (2004) Protein glycation: a firm link to endothelial cell dysfunction. *Circ Res* **95:** 233-238.

Wautier MP, Chappey O, Corda S, Stern DM, Schmidt AM, Wautier JL (2001) Activation of NADPH oxidase by AGE links oxidant stress to altered gene expression via RAGE. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metabol* **280**: E685-694.

Westwood ME, Thornalley PJ (1996) Induction of synthesis and secretion of interleukin 1 beta in the human monocytic THP-1 cells by human serum albumins modified with methylglyoxal and advanced glycation endproducts. *Immunol Letts* **50**: 17-21.

Wilcox CS (2005) Oxidative stress and nitric oxide deficiency in the kidney: a critical link to hypertension? *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **289:** R913-935.

Wolfe BM, Ahuja SP (1977) Effects of intravenously administered fructose and glucose on splanchnic secretion of plasma triglycerides in hypertriglyceridemic men. *Metabolism* **26**: 963-978.

Wolffenbuttel BH, Boulanger CM, Crijns FR, Huijberts MS, Poitevin P, Swennen GN, Vasan S, Egan JJ, Ulrich P, Cerami A, Levy BI (1998) Breakers of advanced glycation end products restore large artery properties in experimental diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA* **95:** 4630-4634 Wu L (2006) Is methylglyoxal a causative factor for hypertension development? *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **84:** 129-139.

Wu L, Juurlink BH (2002) Increased methylglyoxal and oxidative stress in hypertensive rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension* **39**: 809-814.

Xu X, Zhao W, Lao S, Wilson BS, Erikson JM, Zhang JQ (2010) Effects of exercise and Larginine on ventricular remodeling and oxidative stress. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **42**: 346-354.

Yan SD, Schmidt AM, Anderson GM, Zhang J, Brett J, Zou YS, Pinsky D, Stern D (1994) Enhanced cellular oxidant stress by the interaction of advanced glycation end products with their receptors/binding proteins. *J Biol Chem* **269**: 9889-9897.

Yu PH, Wright S, Fan EH, Lun ZR, Gubisne-Harberle D (2003) Physiological and pathological implications of semicarbazide-sensitive amine oxidase. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1647**: 193-199.

Zalba G, Beaumont FJ, San Jose G, Fortuno A, Fortuno MA, Diez J (2001a) Is the balance between nitric oxide and superoxide altered in spontaneously hypertensive rats with endothelial dysfunction? *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **16 Suppl 1:** 2-5.

Zalba G, San Jose G, Moreno MU, Fortuno MA, Fortuno A, Beaumont FJ, Diez J (2001b) Oxidative stress in arterial hypertension: role of NAD(P)H oxidase. *Hypertension* **38**: 1395-1399 Zavaroni I, Sander S, Scott S, Reaven GM (1980) Effect of fructose feeding on insulin secretion and insulin action in the rat. *Metabolism* **29**: 970-973. Zhang C, Hein TW, Wang W, Chang CI, Kuo L (2001) Constitutive expression of arginase in microvascular endothelial cells counteracts nitric oxide-mediated vasodilatory function. *FASEB J* **15:** 1264-1266.

Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V, Clattenburg L, Corretti MC, Capriotti A, Gerstenblith G, Kass DA (2007) Advanced glycation endproduct crosslink breaker (alagebrium) improves endothelial function in patients with isolated systolic hypertension. *J Hypertens* **25**: 577-583.